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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORY
DIRECTORS
Highlights in 2021 for the Board of Supervisory Directors:
On May 3rd, 2021, after approval of the Central Bank of Aruba, Mrs. Julie Wever was welcomed in this
position at the FCCA. Mr. Edwin Tromp was recognized for his services as Director Technical & Commercial
Affairs during more than four years by end of April 2021.
The Covid-19 pandemic has brought new challenges for FCCA, but also opportunities.
The two new directors have set new goals and a strategic plan in motion, together with the Board of
Supervisory Directors (BOSD). In different areas the priorities have been reset and the communication
between the Directors and the BOSD has strengthened and become more frequent and effective.
The main focus is on making the internal processes and operations more efficient, without losing focus on the
public housing aspect of FCCA. The short-term goals may have shifted, but the long-term goals remain
constant. New products in mortgage loans and new housing projects are being implemented and executed.
2021 marked a year with a new government for Aruba with Mrs. Eveline Wever-Croes, as Prime Minister in
charge of infrastructure. Mrs. Xiomara Maduro, Minister of Finances was appointed to be the Minister in
charge of affairs between the government and FCCA.
A brand-new covenant is in the making to ensure a better understanding, cooperation and execution of FCCA’s
goals, which will take into account the current policy of the government. Moreover, to establish a solid
foundation and collaboration with the several governmental departments, such as Dienst Openbare Werken
(DOW), Dienst Infrastructuur en Planning (DIP) and Kadaster. The main focus and common ground is policy
making, the development and management of housing, with a special mention of public housing. Whilst
achieving this, there is still much room for improvement.
The Covid pandemic still continues with direct and indirect effects in 2021. Meetings of the BOSD are held
both in person and via video conferencing. In view of making cuts in the operational expenses, the office space
of the BOSD in Dakota is being scrutinized for efficiency. A less costly alternative has the approval of the
BOSD, for instance a smaller space in the FCCA offices.
Governance:
The powers and duties of the Board of Supervisory Directors are to approve and control the budgets and the
Annual Reports presented by Management. Furthermore, the Board of Supervisory Directors has the
responsibility to advise and control the improvement of administrative functions and the process of
implementation of changes within the FCCA. Moreover, to assist Management in setting up any future
strategic plans and policies for the Foundation. Strategic Planning and Policy is a main responsibility of the
Board of Supervisory Directors as they have the duty to assign an independent international accredited
accountant and auditors’ firm duly established in Aruba, to audit the financial aspects of the Foundation
through the yearly reports to the Board of Supervisory Directors.
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Assignment and Resignation Schedule
Name
Function
Profile

Assignment Re-elected
Period

ReElectable

Resignation Terms
to go
Oct 06,
2021

Mrs. L.M. Gonzalez *

President/ Social
Member A Housing /
Financial
Economics

Oct 05,
2017

Not
Applicable

Oct 05,
2021

Mr. Leo A. Ponson

Member B Construction Aug 15,
/ Innovation 2019

Not
Applicable

Aug 15,
2023

2

Marielsa R. Croes, M.
Sc.

Member B FinancialEconomics

May 23,
2019

Not
Applicable

May 23,
2023

2

ing. H.B.Th. Figaroa **

Member C Commercial

Oct 29,
2014

Sep18,2018 Oct 29,
2022

Ing. G.J.M. Figaroa

Member C Social
Economic

Oct 04,
2018

Not
Applicable

Oct 04,
2022

-

1
Nov 01,
2021

-

* Mrs. L.M. Gonzalez is sister of one of the Vice-Presidents of the Central Bank of Aruba.
** Mr. H.B.Th. Figaroa was the Director of the Aruba Ports Authority till February 2019 and is married to the
President of the Central Bank of Aruba.
• Upon the resignation of Mrs. L.M. Gonzalez a public application was conducted to recruit a new president for the
BOSD. The new Chairman was selected and elected by the BOSD on November 25, 2021 and is pending approval
of the CBA.
• Upon the resignation of Ing. G.J.M. Figaroa, the Minister in charge was notified to appoint a new Member C to
replace Ing. G.J.M. Figaroa. The new member C was appointed in 2022 and is pending approval of the CBA.
• Per December 31, 2021, the BOSD consisted of the following members: Mr. Leo A. Ponson member B (and vicepresident pending approval of the CBA), Mrs. Marielsa R. Croes, member B and Ing. H.B.Th. Figaroa, member
C.

Independence of the Members of the Board of Supervisory Directors:
The Board of Supervisory Directors has taken all precautions for any possible conflict of interest and has spoken
clearly about this issue during their Board Meetings. A Governance Committee has been appointed to control
and thus prevent any possible conflict of interest for the members of the Board of Supervisory Directors as well
as of Management. All members of the Board of Supervisory Directors are regularly screened by the Central
Bank of Aruba. All activities of the BOSD Members are being controlled.
Committees of the Board of Supervisory Directors:
The Board of Supervisory Directors has four Committees:
• the Audit Committee;
• the Construction and Innovation Committee;
• the Funding and Governance Committee;
• the Selection and Remuneration Committee.
The membership of these committees, as per December 31, 2021, consisted of:
• the Audit Committee: Mrs. Marielsa R. Croes – chair and ing. Hose B.Th. Figaroa;
• the Construction and Innovation Committee: Mr. Leo A. Ponson – chair and ing. Hose B.Th. Figaroa;
• the Funding and Governance Committee: ing. Hose B.Th. Figaroa – chair and Mrs. Marielsa R. Croes;
• the Selection and Remuneration Committee: Mr. Leo A. Ponson – chair and Mrs. Marielsa R. Croes.
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Committee

Meetings held

Important topics / decisions

Audit

5

Financial Development of the FCCA during report year
2021;
Audit plan, identifying risk areas, control mechanism
Annual report 2021;
Internal Audit Charter;
Discuss performed assessments 2021.

Construction and Innovation

3

Social housing projects;
New affordable and innovative building systems and pricing;
Advice to Management on:
Empty commercial buildings – no construction of social
housing – empty residential properties - real estate
maintenance – analyses of properties to avoid assets/capital
erosion or loss of rent income.

Funding and Governance

1

New strategies for funding in a setting during and after the
pandemic.

Selection and Remuneration

11

Recruitment of a new President and appointment member C
of the BOSD.

Committee Reports:
Audit committee report 2021
During the course of 2021 and relevant period of 2022, the Audit Committee has met with: the Board of
Supervisory Directors (BOSD) FCCA, the Board of Directors (BOD) of FCCA, the Head Internal Audit and the
External Auditors. Standard items on the agenda of the Committee include topics such as the audit plan for
FCCA’s new audit cycle, identified risk areas, control mechanisms, general organizational and accountability
aspects, and the Annual Report of 2021. Due to Covid-19 measures, meetings were held via Zoom or in person.
At all times, prioritization of matters addressed with or by the Audit Committee considered resource availability
and impact consequence.
Head Internal Audit, in consultation with the BOD, has prepared an updated Internal Audit Charter and the
Internal Audit Plan, including risk assessments for FCCA, and has performed assessments in 2021 such as cost
allocation, physical inventory count, maintenance and repair department, budget cycle, IT-Gap analyses and an
assessment on the Strategy Management process of FCCA. During BOSD meetings relevant reports were
provided in order to keep all BOSD members abreast of developments.
Construction and Innovation report 2021
2020 and 2021 has brought a different set of challenges to FCCA. On the short-term new housing projects are
set on hold to secure and improve the current operations of the concerned department.
At the same time new procedures are set in place to assure a more efficient organization and performance.
New projects include housing projects in Isaac Wagemakerstraat, Weg Kustbatterij, Hato, parceling projects at
Rooi Bosal and Kas Paloma.
The completion of the large housing project at Kiviti has brought along some challenges, which were handled
with care by the BOD to implement new procedures within the construction department.
Because of rising construction costs, due to the pandemic and other global developments, funding of new housing
project, but also the rental income is under scrutinization. On the one hand prices go up, but on the other hand
income and purchasing power of the community has gone down.
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FCCA possesses various properties for rental purposes, which due to the current situation, are vacant and not
being rented out. Several scenarios are discussed between the Directors and the BOSD to alleviate this situation
and to come up with suitable solutions.
It is highly recommended that this specific area gets the necessary attention and frequent meetings be held on
the various topics.
Funding and Governance report 2021
The Funding Committee met once, together with the BOD in December 2021. Goals were set and meetings
continued in 2022.
Selection and Remuneration report 2021
The most important task performed 2020 and part of 2021 was the recruitment of 2 new Directors for the
Management of FCCA.
Also, in October and November 2021 a new President for the BOSD was selected and the Minster in charge
appointed a new member C in December 2021. Both are pending approval of CBA.
Recommendation is to have more frequent (monthly) meetings and attend to our Corporate Governance Code,
most specifically to article 12.3.2.
Oranjestad, June 29, 2022
Board of Supervisory Directors of FCCA:

______________________________
Original signed by:
Mr. Ing. Hose B. Th. Figaroa, Member

________________________________
Original signed by:
Mrs. Marielsa R. Croes, M. Sc., Member

_______________________________
Original signed by:
Mr. Leo A. Ponson, Member
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF MANAGING DIRECTORS
The year in perspective
The ongoing pandemic continues to have effect on the world’s economy and so the Aruban economy. Leaded by the
Tourism recovery the Aruban economy continued to recover gradually especially at the end 2021. This development
continues strongly in 2022 despite a new global crisis.
During 2021 the Foundation continue to adhere with its objectives and assisted its customers with grace periods and
interest reductions based on their financial situation. As the Aruban economic recovery progresses customers are
reviewed and refinanced. Complying with its social and corporate citizen responsibility, the Foundation increased its
efforts and financial support in social activities to promote social cohesion in their neighborhoods, which is currently
severely under pressure due to economic situation.
During 2021 a total of 74 houses and a parcellation of 22 plots were completed and as per balance sheet date a total of
40 was under construction including a parcellation project. The foundation will continue to pursue alternative
construction methods to upkeep with its objective to provide affordable, inclusive and sustainable housing to its
customers.
We attach great importance for an effective cooperation with the Government of Aruba, as an important stakeholder of
the Foundation. At this moment a new covenant, as the new government took office in 2021, is being drafted which
will include besides the aligned housing vision of the Government and the Foundation all the cooperation areas and
agreed upon between the parties.
Financial position and result
Despite the gradual recovery of the economy, the financial position showed a stable solvency and liquidity ratios. As
per year-end, except for the debt service coverage ratio, the Foundation was able to comply with all the ratios as stated
in the Intercreditor Agreement and the minimum regulatory requirements.
The impact of the pandemic is noticeable in the net result, mainly caused by a decrease of the loan portfolio and
increase in the impairment of the loan portfolio value, with respective 1.35% and 31%.
The net investment property (land and building for rent) decreased with 5.23% (due to depreciation and disposal of a
property in Bonaire) and the net tangible fixed assets in exploitation increased with 2.78% as per December 31, 2021.
The borrowing shows a decrease of 8.38% due to the first two repayments of the Intercreditor Agreement, which is
also the main reason for the non-compliance with the debt service coverage ratio.
The revenues from financial activities showed a decrease of 11.26%, meanwhile the revenue from real estate activities
showed an increase of 7.97%. The expenses showed an increase of 3.05% mainly due to the impairment of the loan
portfolio. Despite the above the net result showed an increase of 184%.
Looking forward and our commitment
Although the economic recovery depends heavily on the ongoing impact of the pandemic and the full impact of the
new global crisis. Being professional, innovated, focused and resilient are eminent elements to cope rapidly with any
challenges ahead.
Amid the gradual recovery of the Aruban economy, the strategy and objectives were comprehensively reassessed to
make the Foundation more resilient and agile in the future. In 2022 the new strategy 2022-2026 was approved,
enforcing the core purpose of the foundation to provide affordable housing to the community through mortgage and or
Page 8

Annual report 2021

Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano

rent. Subsequently a new attractive lending package was recently introduced with the purpose to ease the monthly loan
burden to coop with the reduced disposable income of the Aruban community.
We remain committed and are confident that together with our employees, stakeholders, and customers that the
Foundation will overcome any challenges that the future present.
Oranjestad, June 29, 2022

F.C.C.A. Board of Managing Directors:

__________________________

__________________________

Director Financial & General Affairs

Director Technical & Commercial Affairs

Original signed by:
Mr. R. Giovani Anthony

Original signed by:
Mrs. E.J.R. Wever
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Governance and organization
The foundation is managed by a board consisting of two (2) directors under the supervision of a supervisory board. The
board is responsible for the management of FCCA, which means, among other things, that the board is responsible for
the realization of FCCA's objectives, the strategy, financing, and policy. The board is accountable for this to the
supervisory board. the board is also responsible for compliance with all relevant laws and regulations and for managing
the risks associated with FCCA's activities
The organizational structure is presented below:
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Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2021
(in Aruban florin)
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets - loans
Investments measured at amortized cost
Inventory

Note#

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

4.1.3
4.1.1
4.1.1
4.1.2

19,746,790
7,244,998
9,989,596
1,614,406
2,345,185
40,940,975

22,027,239
3,937,212
11,568,147
5,390,733
1,471,676
44,395,007

Non-current assets
Financial assets - loans
Investments measured at amortized cost
Investment properties
Tangible fixed assets

4.1.1
4.1.2
4.2.1
4.2.2

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

180,814,702
10,422,974
10,216,703
132,681,902
334,136,281
375,077,256

185,246,648
11,676,617
10,693,454
129,760,442
337,377,161
381,772,168

4.1.4
4.1.4
4.1.5

13,941,698
116,593
8,070,819
22,129,110

13,776,507
51,044
8,070,819
21,898,370

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings
Employee benefit obligations

4.1.4
4.1.5
4.2.3

5,954,296
80,123,465
909,335
86,987,096
109,116,206

6,024,828
88,194,284
939,418
95,158,530
117,056,900

100
10,398,081
255,562,869
265,961,050
375,077,256

100
10,432,354
254,282,814
264,715,268
381,772,168

Total liabilities
Capital
Capital
Regulatory loan loss reserve
Retained earnings
Total capital
Total liabilities and capital

4.3.1

*

*

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
* These comparative figures have been restated due to the reclassification of the assets held for sale (reclassed from assets in
exploitation to inventory).
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Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year 2021
Note#

2021

2020

5.1
5.2

16,641,756
14,679,869
31,321,625

18,754,438
13,596,197
32,350,635

Other income

5.3

3,892,751

2,053,004

Credit impairment (loss)/recovery

5.4

(1,725,472)

(2,675,912)

Expenses
Personnel expenses
General expenses
Property expenses
Depreciation expenses
Finance costs

5.5
5.6
5.7
5.8
5.9

12,489,191
5,119,363
4,526,890
5,066,267
5,041,411
32,243,122

11,967,950
4,908,568
4,455,464
4,682,359
5,275,319
31,289,660

1,245,782

438,067

(in Aruban florin)
Revenues
Revenues from financial activities
Revenues from real estate activities

Net result for the year

There are no items of other comprehensive income during 2021 and 2020.
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 2021
Note#
(in Aruban florin)
Cash flow from operating activities
Net result for the year
Adjustments:
Depreciation expenses
Credit impairment loss
Write-offs of doubtful debtors (net)
Employee benefit obligations
Interest income
Interest expense

5.8
5.4
4.1.1
4.2.3
5.1.1
5.9

2021

2020

1,245,782

438,067

5,066,267
1,725,472
(225,586)
30,083
(841,106)
4,562,631

4,682,359
2,675,912
(8,735)
(51,816)
(1,192,648)
4,798,672
10,317,761

Movement in working capital:
Increase in lease liability
Movement in receivables
Movement in trade and other payables
Movement in inventory

4.1.1
4.1.4

(4,983)
(2,671,368)
(4,414,073)
(873,509)

10,903,744
2,393,400
(3,006,458)
(5,230,333)
856,199

*

(7,963,933)
Interest paid
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Held-to-maturity investment
Increase in investments

5.9.1

(43,534)

(4,987,192)
(48,672)

(43,534)
3,556,076
4.1.2

5,000,000

(48,672)
6,305,945
18,000,000

5,000,000
Investment property
Additions
Disposals and sale of assets

4.2.1
4.2.1

(21,820)
180,000

18,000,000
-

158,180
Tangible fixed assets in exploitation
Additions
Disposals and sale of assets
Re-allocation of assets
Impairment
Repurchase

4.2.2.1
4.2.2.1
4.2.2.1
4.2.2.1

(8,441,404)
1,226,415
184,855
(288,000)

(14,705,122)
(236,046)

(7,318,134)

Tangible fixed assets for own use
Additions
Re-allocation of assets
Disposals and sale of assets

4.2.2.2
4.2.2.2
4.2.2.2

(522,852)
8,859

Cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Increase in borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Cash flow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1
Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31

4.1.1
4.1.1
4.1.1
5.1.1

(615,818)
17,806

(11,355,329)
12,271,784
3,150,681
841,106

(598,012)
(36,029,196)
28,636,450
2,115,198
1,192,648

4,908,241
2,234,294
4.1.5
4.1.5

*
(14,941,168)

(513,993)
Mortgage and other loans
Increase in loans
Repayments received
Refinanced loans
Interest received

*
*

45,848
(8,116,667)

(4,084,900)
(1,624,080)
45,849
(200,000)

(8,070,819)
(2,280,449)
22,027,239
19,746,790

(154,151)
4,527,714
17,499,525
22,027,239

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Refer to note 4.1.3 for further details.
* These comparative figures have been restated due to the reclassification of the assets held for sale (reclassed from assets in
exploitation to inventory).
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Statement of Changes in Capital for the year ended December 31, 2021
(in Aruban florin)
Balance as at December 31, 2019
Regulatory loan loss reserve
Net result for the year
Balance as at December 31, 2020
Regulatory loan loss reserve
Net result for the year
Balance as at December 31, 2021

Capital
100
100
100

Regulatory loan
loss reserve
10,051,781
380,572
10,432,353
(34,272)
10,398,081

Retained
earnings
254,225,320
(380,572)
438,067
254,282,814
34,272
1,245,782
255,562,869

TOTAL
264,277,201
438,067
264,715,268
1,245,782
265,961,050

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
FCCA is a Foundation, thus there are no issuance of shares or payout of dividends involved. The result of the
Foundation’s products and services are to the benefit of its products and services to the inhabitants of Aruba. Its equity
is affected by this result.
As a financial institution under the prudential supervision of the Central Bank of Aruba part of the equity is especially
reserved for special purposes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 2021
(1)

General and Significant accounting policies

(1.1)

General information

Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano (‘FCCA’ or ‘the Foundation’) is a foundation that was founded and
established in Aruba on February 13, 1979. The address of its registered office and principal place of business is
disclosed in the introduction to the annual report.
The primary purposes of the Foundation are related to the improvement of social housing and community facilities by:
 building and acquiring houses;
 acquiring or leasing lease land;
 improving and renovating houses;
 promoting the building of own properties;
 selling properties;
 providing construction credits and mortgages;
 managing and operating housing in general, in particular the division of housing, the rent, the collection of rental
income and the provision of maintenance and renewal of houses;
 assisting in the provision of insurance contracts, the collection of insurance premiums, the settlement of damage
claims and the provision of advice with insurance problems;
 managing and operating real estate;
 providing services to third parties in relation to housing; and
 promoting and improving the living and housing environment by providing community facilities.
These financial statements have been prepared by the Board of Managing Directors. The Board of Supervisory
Directors authorized the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2021, on June 29, 2022.

(1.2)

Going concern assumptions

The economic and financial impact of Covid-19 pandemic has its implications on the clients of FCCA resulting into:
 A decline of revenues of the Financing Activities of approximately 11.3%. The carrying amount as at December
31, 2021, is AFl.16.6 million, mainly caused by take over from other financial institutions.
 Increase of ECL of the loan portfolio with AFl. 1.7 million. The carrying amount as at December 31, 2021, is
AFl.7.1 million.
Despite the global inflation challenges as result of the ongoing war, the tourism recovery in the last months exceeds the
expectations and subsequently the economic recovery is expected to be fully recover in 2023, which will improve the
disposable income of the clients of FCCA.
The Foundation made the first two principal payment of the Intercreditor Agreement dated August 28, 2017, according
to the loan schedule as per March 1 and September 1, 2021. Due to the principal payments, the decrease in revenues
from Financing Activities and increasing ECL provision, the foundation is in default with one of the covenants of the
Intercreditor Agreement being the Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR). Formal waiver was requested to the lenders
which was obtained as per November 23, 2021, and April 22, 2022.
The liquidity forecast assessment does not include the new strategy implementations launched in June 2022, it reveals
that the Foundation is able to generate a positive operational cash flow, while maintaining investments and complying
with the debt obligations.
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To cope with the financial impact as consequences of Covid-19 and current ongoing global crisis a revised strategy
was drafted and approved by the Supervisory Board of Directors. Part of the revised strategy was a complete fresh loan
product to compete with the other local financial institutions, was formally launch as per June 17, 2022. The strategy
also comprises out of improving efficiencies and reduce expenses. Starting the second quarter the interest from the
Intercreditor Agreement is up for negotiations. Any additional interest reduction will contribute to the improvement of
the Foundation’s result.
Conclusion
Based on the circumstances described above, the financial statements are prepared under the assumptions that the
Foundation operates on a going concern basis.

(1.3)

Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(1.3.1) Basis of preparation
(i)

Compliance with IFRS

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to entities reporting under
IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Foundation’s accounting
policies.
(ii)

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
(iii)

Standards, amendments, improvements and interpretations effective first time in the current year and
relevant for the Foundation’s operations

New Standards adopted as at January 1, 2021:
Some accounting pronouncements which have become effective from 1 January 2021 and have therefore been adopted
do not have a significant impact on the Foundation’s financial results or position.
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Foundation
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, Standards and amendments
to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the IASB. None of these Standards or amendments to
existing Standards have been adopted early by the Foundation. Other Standards and amendments that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted early by the Foundation include:
 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;
 Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4);
 References to the Conceptual Framework;
 Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16);
 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a contract (Amendments to IAS 37);
 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16);
 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1); and
 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities from a Single Transaction.
This standard and these amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements in the
period of initial application and therefore the disclosures have not been made.
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(1.3.2) Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in Aruban Florin (AFl.),
which is FCCA’s functional and presentation currency.
(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates and are
generally recognized in profit or loss.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within
finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis
within general expenses.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income.

(1.3.3) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, if any, are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(1.3.4) Inventory
Inventory consists of items used for repair/maintenance of the Foundation’s tangible fixed assets and plots available for
sale and plots held for sale to third parties. Items used for repair/maintenance are not held for sale to third parties.
Inventory items used for repair/maintenance is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventory
comprises items such as purchase price, insurance, freight, and other direct costs, if any. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs.
Inventory plots available for sale are stated at cost.

(1.3.5) Financial instruments
Financial Assets
(i)

Classification

The Foundation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or amortized cost (AC). The classification depends on:
• the Foundation’s assessment of the overall objective of the business model within which the asset is held; and
• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the assets.
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Business model assessment
The business model reflects how the Foundation manages its assets in order to generate cash flows, that is, whether the
objective is to collect contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. The Foundation assesses its business
model at a portfolio level reflective of how group of assets are managed together to achieve a particular business
objective. Factors considered by the Foundation in determining the business model for a group of assets include:
• how performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel;
• the risks that affect performance and how they are managed;
• how managers are compensated; and
• the frequency and volume of sales in prior period and expectations about future sales activity.
Contractual cash flow characteristics assessment
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and
sell, the Foundation determines if they give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(‘SPPI’) on the principal amount outstanding that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. In this context,
‘principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition and ‘interest’ is consideration for the time value
of money and credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for
other basic lending risks and costs as well as profit margin.
If the Foundation identifies any contractual cash flows, such that cash flows are no longer consistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVPL. In making this assessment, the
Foundation considers:
• contingent events;
• leverage features;
• prepayment and term extensions; and
• terms which limit the Foundation’s recourse to specific assets and features that modify consideration of the time
value of money.
(ii)

Recognition and measurement

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date.
Debt Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold for
collection of contractual cash flows, and where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
(SPPI). After initial measurement, debt instruments in this category are carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition amount minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the Effective
Interest Rate (EIR) method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial
assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.
Debt instruments of the Foundation comprise loans and investment securities that are sovereign bonds. After assessing
its business model for loans and sovereign bonds, which are held to collect the contractual cash flows, and where the
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, these instruments were measured at amortized cost.
Purchases and sales of debt instruments at amortized cost are recognized at trade date – the date on which the
Foundation commits to purchase or sell the asset – and are measured at amortized cost when cash is advanced to the
borrowers. Mortgage loans are recognized on settlement date - the date on which the Foundation and the client sign the
notary deed. There are cases of loans closed between the Foundation and its client for the purchase of FCCA or former
Land Aruba houses and for which the mortgage rights have not been passed as per balance sheet date. These loans are
recognized at trade date.
Interest income using the effective interest rate method is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
through profit or loss. Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortized cost is calculated using the expected
credit loss (ECL) approach. Loans and debt securities measured at amortized cost are presented net of allowance for
credit losses in the Statement of Financial Position.
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Debt Instruments Measured at FVOCI
Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold both for
collection of contractual cash flows and for the sale of financial assets, where the financial assets’ cash flows represent
payments that are solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL. Subsequent to initial
recognition, unrealized gains and losses on debt instruments measured at FVOCI are taken through other
comprehensive income (OCI) in full, unless the instrument is designated in a fair value hedge relationship.
When the asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognized in ‘Net Investment Income’. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to the
amortized cost of the debt instrument are recognized through profit or loss.
Impairment on debt instruments measured at FVOCI is calculated using the expected credit loss
approach. The expected credit loss on debt instruments measured at FVOCI does not reduce the carrying amount of the
asset in the Statement of Financial Position, which remains at its fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance
that would arise if the financial assets were measured at amortized cost is recognized in OCI with a corresponding
amount taken to Credit Impairment Losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The accumulated amount
recognized in OCI is recycled through profit or loss upon derecognition of the debt instrument.
Debt Instruments Measured at FVPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or
loss.
Financial Assets Mandatorily Measured at FVPL
Financial assets meeting either of the conditions below are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss
(other than in respect of an equity investment designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income):
• Financial assets with contractual terms that do not give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and
• Financial assets held within a business model whose objective is achieved neither by collecting contractual cash
flows nor by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. This includes financial assets
held within a portfolio that is managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. It further
includes portfolios of financial assets that are ‘held for trading’.
Financial Assets Designated as Measured at FVPL
A financial asset may be designated at fair value through profit or loss only if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies (an ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from
measuring financial assets or liabilities or recognizing gains and losses on them on different basis. They are carried in
the Statement of Financial Position at fair value, with all changes in fair value recorded in profit or loss in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Debt instruments of the Foundation comprise the following:
• Receivables, receivables Land Aruba and current account with Land Aruba are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less provision for
impairment. See note 4.1.1 for further information about FCCA’s accounting for receivables and note 2.1 for a
description of FCCA’s impairment policies;
• Personal loans and mortgage loans; and
• Investments in time deposits and government bonds.
After assessing its business model for receivables, loans and investments, which are mostly held to collect the
contractual cash flows where the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, these instruments are
measured at amortized cost.
Equity Instruments
Equity instruments are measured at FVPL, unless an election is made to designate them at FVOCI upon purchase. For
equity instruments measured at FVPL, changes in fair value are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
as part of net gain/loss from other financial instruments carried at fair value. Instruments elected to be classified as
non-trading equity instruments at FVOCI are made upon initial recognition, on an instrument-by-instrument basis and
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once made, is irrevocable. Gains and losses on these instruments including when derecognized/sold are recorded in
OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement. Dividend received is recorded in the profit or loss.

(1.3.6) Trade and other receivables
If collection is expected in one year or less trade and other receivables are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets. The Foundation makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for Trade and Other
Receivables and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. In
calculating, the Foundation uses its historical experience, external indicators, and forward-looking information to
calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.
The Foundation assesses impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk
characteristics they have been grouped based on the days past due.
Receivables, receivables Land Aruba and current account with Land Aruba are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. See note
4.1.1 for further information about FCCA’s accounting for receivables and note 2.1 for a description of FCCA’s
impairment policies.
(i) Reclassification
The Foundation reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date, which is the first day of the first
reporting period following the change in business mode; that results in the reclassification. Any previously recognized
gains, losses or interest are not restated.
(ii) Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the financial assets have
expired, or when they have been transferred and either:
• the Foundation transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; or
• the Foundation neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the
Foundation has not retained control.

(1.3.7) Impairment of financial assets
Scope
The Foundation recognizes impairment loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following categories of
financial instruments unless measured at fair value through profit or loss:
• financial assets that are debt instruments;
• loan commitments;
• financial guarantee contracts issued and not accounted for under IFRS 4 ‘Insurance contracts’ (These contrasts
to the IAS 39 impairment model which was not applicable to loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts, as these were covered by IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets); and
• receivables and contract assets recognized under IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’.
Expected credit loss model
As per January 1, 2018, the determination of impairment losses and allowance changed from an incurred credit loss
model whereby credit losses are recognized when a defined loss event occurs under IAS 39, to an expected credit loss
model under IFRS 9, where provisions are taken upon initial recognition of the financial asset, based on expectations
from potential credit losses at the time of initial recognition. Under IFRS 9, the Foundation first evaluates individually
whether objective impairment exists for financial assets which are individually significant. It then collectively assesses
financial assets that are not individually significant and loans which are significant but for which there is no objective
evidence of impairment.
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The Foundation uses an ECL model developed to meet the requirements of IFRS 9. The allowance for credit losses
calculations are outputs of models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs
and their interdependencies. This model measures credit loss allowances using a three-stage approach based on the
extent of credit deterioration since origination.
The Foundation assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL’) associated with its debt
instrument assets carried at amortized cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts. The Foundation recognizes a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The
measurement of ECL reflects:
• an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
• the time value of money; and
• reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Presentation of allowance for credit losses in the Statement of Financial Position
• financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial
assets;
• debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: no allowance is recognized in the
Balance Sheet because the carrying value of these assets is their fair value. However, the allowance determined
is presented in the accumulated other comprehensive income;
• off-balance sheet credit risks including undisbursed loan commitments and financial guarantees: as a provision.
Write-offs
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment and reduces the gross
carrying amount of the loan. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the
amount of the loss has been determined.
Modified Loans
Loans are identified as renegotiated and classified as credit- impaired when the Foundation modifies the contractual
payment terms due to significant credit distress of the borrower. Renegotiated loans remain classified as creditimpaired until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk of nonpayment of future
cash flows and retain the designation of renegotiated until maturity or derecognition. A loan that is renegotiated is
derecognized if the existing agreement is cancelled and a new agreement is made on substantially different terms or if
the terms of an existing agreement are modified such that the renegotiated loan is a substantially different financial
instrument. Any new loans that arise following derecognition events in these circumstances are considered to be
Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (POCI) and will continue to be disclosed as renegotiated loans.
Other than originated credit-impaired loans, all other modified loans could be transferred out of stage 3 if they no
longer exhibit any evidence of being credit-impaired and, in the case of renegotiated loans, there is sufficient evidence
to demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk of non-payment of future cash flows, over the minimum observation
period, and there are no other indicators of impairment. These loans could be transferred to stage 1 or 2 by comparing
the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date (based on the modified contractual terms) and the risk of a default
occurring at initial recognition (based on the original, unmodified contractual terms). Any amount written off as a
result of the modification of contractual terms would not be reversed.
Modified loans that are not credit-impaired
Loan modifications that are not identified as renegotiated are considered to be restructured. Where a restructuring
results in a modification such that the Foundation’s rights to the cash flows under the original contract have expired,
the old loan is derecognized, and the new loan is recognized at fair value. The rights to cash flows are generally
considered to have expired if the restructure is at market rates and no payment-related concession has been provided.
Non-performing loans
The Foundation’s approach to classifying performing versus non-performing loans is through utilization of the internal
credit risk grading process. With transition to IFRS 9, all credit graded/ categorized special caution, sub-performing
and default are considered credit-impaired and require individual provisions or “Stage 3” Expected Credit Loss (ECL).
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Financial Liabilities
(i) Classification, Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
The Foundation classifies its financial liabilities as being measured at amortized cost unless it has designated liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss or is required to measure liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, (normally the issued proceeds, that is, the fair value of
consideration received) less, in the case of financial liabilities subsequently carried at amortized cost, transaction costs.
For financial liabilities carried at amortized cost, any difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the
redemption value is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income through profit or loss using the effective
interest method.
A financial liability may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss only when:
• It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (an ‘accounting mismatch’)
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on
different basis; or
• A group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed, and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis in accordance with documented risk management or investment strategy; or
• A contract contains one or more embedded derivatives that significantly change the cash flows of the contract
and the separation of the embedded derivative(s) is not prohibited.
The movement in own credit risk related to financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is
recorded in other comprehensive income unless this would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss
for the Foundation (in which case all gains or losses are recognized through profit or loss).
(ii) Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished, for instance, when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

(1.3.7.1) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Foundation prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.
They are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method.
Leases
FCCA as a lessee
For any new contracts entered on or after January 1st, 2019, FCCA considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease.
A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition FCCA assesses whether the contract meets three
key evaluations which are whether:
• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available to FCCA;
• FCCA has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract;
• FCCA has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. FCCA assess whether
it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
At lease commencement date, FCCA recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the Statement of Financial
Position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by FCCA, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the
lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).
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FCCA depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. FCCA also assesses the right-of-use asset for
impairment when such indicators exist.
At the commencement date, FCCA measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or FCCA’s incremental
borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When
the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if
the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.
FCCA has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead
of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
FCCA as a lessor
FCCA leases out investment properties under operating leases. Investment properties includes real estate properties
which are owned to earn rentals and for capital appreciation.

(1.3.7.2) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method. Fees paid on
the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawn down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that this is probable that some or all the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.
Borrowings are removed from the Statement of Financial Position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled, or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Foundation has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(1.3.7.3) Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowings costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(1.3.8) Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental income, which are not classified as ‘tangible fixed
assets in exploitation’ or for capital appreciation, or for both. Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation.
The fair value is disclosed in the disclosure note of investment property based on recent appraisal reports.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, which ranges between 15 to 50 years (depending on the type of property) from the date of
purchase of the property (November 3, 2003) without taking into consideration a residual value. Land is not
depreciated. Useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
profit or loss.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Foundation and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
in which they are incurred.

(1.3.9) Tangible fixed assets
(i) Tangible fixed assets in exploitation
Tangible fixed assets in exploitation consist of community center facilities, rental property, property available for sale,
projects in progress and land.
Tangible fixed assets in exploitation are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Projects in progress is stated at historical cost and are not depreciated during the period of construction. Land is stated
at cost and is not depreciated.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
• Community centers:
10 - 50 years
• Rental property in exploitation:
5 - 50 years
Useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
profit or loss.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Foundation and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
in which they are incurred.
(ii) Tangible fixed assets for own use
Tangible fixed assets for own use consist of the office building, furniture and equipment, computer equipment and
vehicles.
Tangible fixed assets for own use are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
• Office building and improvements:
3 - 40 years
• Furniture equipment:
2 - 10 years
• Computer equipment:
3 years
• Vehicles:
5 years
Useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in
profit or loss.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Foundation and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
in which they are incurred.

(1.3.10) Employee benefits
(i)

Short term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are
recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as part of payroll and other statutory
liabilities included in trade and other payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
(ii)

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The provision for anniversary allowance is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
reporting year. This provision is therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments for anniversary
allowance that is based on the number of years that the employees are in service at the Foundation. Consideration is
given to expect future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, life expectancy and periods of
service. Expected future payments are discounted using a rate of 4.5% per annum. Re-measurements as a result of
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in profit or loss.
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contribution. For the defined contribution plans, the Foundation pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory or contractual basis. The contributions are consequently
recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due. If contribution payments exceed the contribution due for
service, the excess is recognized as an asset.
For information regarding the Foundation’s pension arrangements, reference is made to note 5.5 in these financial
statements.

(1.3.11) Capital
(i)

Capital

FCCA is a Foundation, thus there is no issuance of shares or payout of dividends involved. The result of the
Foundation’s products and services is to the benefit of its products and services to the inhabitants of Aruba. Its capital
is affected by this result, included in retained earnings.
(ii)

Other reserves

Other reserves consist of the Foundation’s retained earnings and a regulatory loan loss reserve. As a financial
institution under prudential supervision of the Centrale Bank van Aruba, the Foundation is, based on the applicable
State Ordinance on the Supervision of the Credit System (AB 1998 no.16) and related Supervisory Directives, required
to recognize a reserve of at least 3% of the net loan portfolio (gross loans minus allocated provisions) plus other risk
items on the asset side of the statement of financial position. This reserve is formed from the retained earnings.
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(1.3.12) Revenue recognition
Interest income
The Foundation calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit-impaired, by applying
the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. When a financial asset becomes credit impaired as set out
in Note 2.1 and is therefore regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Foundation calculates interest income by applying EIR to the net
amortized cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cure as outlined in Note 2.1 and are no longer creditimpaired, the Foundation reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.
Interest expense
Interest expense is recognized in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for all instruments
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating the interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate method
Under IFRS 9, interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost.
The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset
or liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. The EIR is
calculated by taking into account transaction costs and any discount or premium on acquisition of the financial asset, as
well as fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR.
When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit-impaired assets, the Foundation
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not expected credit losses.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired (‘POCI’) financial assets – assets that are credit-impaired at initial
recognition – the Foundation calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the
amortized cost of the financial asset instead of the gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected
credit losses in estimated future cash flows.
If expectations of fixed rate financial assets or liabilities’ cash flows are revised for reasons other than credit risk, then
changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a consequential adjustment to the
carrying amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive or negative adjustment to
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability on the Statement of Financial Position with a
corresponding increase or decrease in interest income/expense calculated using the effective interest method.
Real estate income
Fee and Commission Income (not in scope of IFRS 9) arises mainly from loan commitments and administration, other
financial service-related products (syndication) and fund management.
To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Foundation follows a 5-step process:
1. identifying the contract with a customer;
2. identifying the performance obligations;
3. determining the transaction price;
4. allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and
5. recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.
Revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Foundation satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers.
The Foundation recognizes contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unfulfilled performance
obligations and reports these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the
Foundation satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the Foundation recognizes either a
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contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, depending on whether something other than the
passage of time is required before the consideration is due.
Other income
Fee and Commission Income (not in scope of IFRS 9) arises mainly from loan commitments and administration, other
financial service-related products (syndication) and fund management.
To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Foundation follows a 5-step process:
1. identifying the contract with a customer;
2. identifying the performance obligations;
3. determining the transaction price;
4. allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations;
5. recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.
Revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Foundation satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers.
The Foundation recognizes contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unfulfilled performance
obligations and reports these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the
Foundation satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the Foundation recognizes either a
contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, depending on whether something other than the
passage of time is required before the consideration is due.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Foundation recognizes revenue
when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Foundation’s activities as described below.
(i)

Revenues from financing activities

Revenues from financing activities consist of interest income and fees and commission income. Interest income arising
from loans is recognized as it accrues, taking into effect the effective interest rates on the loans. Interest income arising
from investments is recognized as it accrues, taking into effect the effective yield on the investment. Fees and
commission income, including transaction fees and closing fees are recognized as the related services are performed.
(ii)

Revenues from real estate activities

Revenues from real estate activities consist of rental revenues. Rental revenue is arising from the FCCA houses and
rental buildings, including the rent subsidy paid by the Government of Aruba for the social tenants. This revenue is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of
financial position based on their nature.

(1.3.13) Expenses
Expenses are recognized in the period in which they are incurred.

(1.3.14) Settlement of receivables and liabilities
Receivables and liabilities are settled and are presented net in the financial statements if a legally enforceable right for
settlement exists and if the intention between both parties is to settle receivables and liabilities simultaneously on a net
basis.

(1.3.15) Taxes
Due to FCCA's activities it is not subject to profit tax. However as from 2007, FCCA is subject to taxes for certain
revenue items due to the introduction of laws on turnover tax (BBO) and, later, health care levy (BAZV) in Aruba.
Turnover tax (BBO and BAVP) and health care levy (BAZV) are presented together in the statement of profit or loss,
within general expenses.
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(1.3.16) Cash flow and liquidity position
As per the Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2021, and based on the cash flow over the twelve-month
period for 2021, the Foundation shows positive results, a sound financial position and positive cash flows from
operating activities.
The interest rate of 2021 of the long-term loans changed (lower) due to the new funding that was arranged during
2017, in order to further decrease its cost-of-debt and be able to offer substantially lower interest rates to its mortgage
loan clients. In 2021 there were no funding arranged or received.
With regard to future investment in social housing projects, for which new funding will be needed in the future,
management maintains the decision that these investments will only be made when the funding for social housing (if
needed) has been realized under special loan terms and conditions designed primarily for social housing.
Management expects that sufficient cash flow will continue to be generated in order to improve the cash flow and
liquidity position of the Foundation. The financial statements are based upon going-concern assumption.

(1.3.17) Critical estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal
the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgment in applying the Foundation’s accounting policies.
This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgment or complexity and of items
which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong. Detailed
estimation about each of these estimates and judgments is included in the notes to the financial statements together
with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements.
The areas involving significant estimates or judgments are:
• Recognition of revenue (note 1.3.12)
• Classification & Impairment of financial assets (note 1.3.7)
• Estimated useful life of tangible fixed assets and investment property (notes 1.3.8 & 1.3.9)
• Estimation of the provision for anniversary allowance (note 1.3.10)
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
Classification of financial assets
Management needs to exercise judgment in the assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and
assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial assets are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
Impairment of financial instruments:
In determining ECL, management is required to exercise judgment in defining what is considered to be a significant
increase in credit risk and in making assumptions and estimates to incorporate relevant information about past events,
current conditions and forecast of economic condition.
Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is presented in Section/Note
2, which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL to changes in these elements.

(2)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

FCCA manages its general risk by complying with its own Governance Code (see pages 21-23: Chapter on FCCA
Governance Code) and FCCA has the positions of Internal auditor and of the Internal Control/Risk management
separately in place, while continuously investing in their knowledge upgrade. With regard to compliance, the function
of Money Laundering Compliance Officer (MLCO) and Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) is being
carried out fulltime by two separate staff-members.
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(2.1)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Foundation if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations and arises from the loan portfolio of the Foundation, as well as cash and cash equivalents,
investments in time deposits and government bonds, deposits with banks and outstanding receivables.
FCCA has a relatively high credit risk due to the nature of its activities for its primary target group (c.q. social). FCCA,
as a financial institution under the supervision of the Central Bank of Aruba (CBA), has continuously been monitored
through field surveys since the 1st onsite inspection on 1988 and must comply completely with the State Ordinance
under Supervision of the Credit System (AB 1998 no.16).
In addition, FCCA has in this respect the requirement to report monthly to the Central Bank of Aruba. Noncompliance to the prudential supervision standards of the CBA will first lead to non-compliance fines and ultimately it
can result in withdrawal of the banking permit, necessary for the home mortgage loan product.
FCCA has made adequate provisions and has appropriate insurance coverage for instances of deaths and accidents for
the risk on collectability and the underlying collateral in place. FCCA has first mortgage rights on the homes of its
clients by means of the construction or purchase loans. With regard to receivables and other assets, FCCA has made
adequate provisions and tries to arrange automatic deductions on salary or automatic bank transfer from its clients to
assure timely repayments. Management has a credit policy, and the credit risk is continuously being monitored.
Risk management
Credit risk is managed on a group basis:
• Bank accounts are held with local banks that fall under the supervision of the Central Bank of Aruba. These
banks must comply with the requirements regarding sound solvency and liquidity as stipulated by the Central
Bank of Aruba. These banks have no external ratings;
• The investments consist of local government bonds as well as time deposits held with local banks. Local
government bonds, issued by Land Aruba, have no external rating;
• The (mortgage) loan portfolio, all having no external rating; and
• Receivables from tenants and other parties, all having no external rating.

2.1.1

Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ approach for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarized below:
Stage 1 12-month ECL (not credit impaired)
These are financial instruments where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
An impairment loss allowance equal to 12month ECL is recognized. This is the portion of lifetime ECL resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months. Credit risk is continuously monitored by the Foundation.
Stage 2 Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired)
These are financial instruments where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but
which are not credit impaired. An impairment loss allowance equal to lifetime ECL is recognized. Lifetime ECL are
the ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. Refer to note 2.1.1
below for a description of how the Foundation determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.
Stage 3 Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
These are financial instruments which are credit-impaired at the reporting date but were not credit-impaired at initial
recognition. An impairment loss allowance equal to lifetime ECL is recognized. Please refer to note 2.1.2 below for a
description of how the Foundation defines credit-impaired and default.
Significant risk in credit risk at initial recognition
IFRS 9 requires the recognition of 12 month expected credit losses (the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from
default events that are expected within 12 months of the reporting date) if credit risk has not significantly increased
since initial recognition (stage 1), and lifetime expected credit losses for financial instruments for which the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) or which are credit impaired (stage 3). The Foundation
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assesses when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred based on quantitative and qualitative assessments.
Exposures are considered to have resulted in a significant increase in credit risk and are moved to stage 2 when:
• Quantitative Test;
• Qualitative Test;
• Backstop Criteria.
A backstop has been applied and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant increase in
credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days due on its contractual payments.
The Foundation assess the decrease or increase in credit risk in the ECL model. A decrease in credit risk will result in a
release of the credit impairment; while an increase in credit risk will result in an addition of the credit impairment.
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL as these do not contain
a significant financing component. The Foundation considers having low credit risk for the current asset trade and
other receivables. The Foundation has not used the low credit risk exemption for other financial instruments in the year
ended December 31, 2021.
Credit Impaired Financial Assets at Stage 3
The Foundation has aligned its definition of credit impaired under IFRS 9 to when a financial asset has defaulted for
regulatory purposes according to the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR). Credit impaired is when the exposure
has defaulted which is also anticipated to align to when an exposure is identified as individually impaired under the
incurred loss model as was the case under IAS 39.
The determination of whether a financial asset is credit-impaired focuses exclusively on default risk, without taking
into consideration the effects of credit risk mitigants such as collateral or guarantees. A financial asset is creditimpaired in Stage 3 when the Foundation considers the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Foundation. Determination may include forbearance actions, where a concession has been granted to the borrower or
economic or legal reasons that are qualitative indicators of credit impairment, or contractual payments of either
principal or interest by the obligor are past due by more than 90 days.
Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired Financial Assets in Stage 3
Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit-impaired on initial
recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis. All subsequent changes in lifetime expected credit
losses, whether positive or negative, are recognized in the income statement as a component of the provision for credit
losses (Stage 3).
The Foundation determines appropriate groups of assets when ECL is measured on a collective basis. Please see 4.1.1.
Measuring ECL – Basis of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation Techniques
IFRS 9 does not distinguish between individually significant or not individually significant financial assets. As such,
the Foundation calculates expected credit losses for each financial asset individually.
The Foundation uses three main components to measure ECL: Probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD),
and loss given default (LGD). The Foundation has leveraged existing parameters used for determination of capital
demand under the Basel Internal Ratings Based Approach and internal risk management practice as much as possible
to calculate ECL. These parameters are adjusted where necessary to comply with IFRS 9 requirements.
Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:
• The probability of default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default
may only happen at a certain time over the remaining estimated life if the facility has not been previously
derecognized and is still in the portfolio.
• The exposure at default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest
from missed payments.
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• The loss given default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time.
It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to
receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.
Forward-looking macroeconomic factors
A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking
information. The measurement of expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increases in
credit risk considers information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable
forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-looking information
requires significant judgment. The Foundation used the unemployment index as forward-looking macroeconomic
factor.
Segmentation
IFRS 9 requires that exposures be appropriately grouped into homogenous segments based on shared credit
characteristics that are expected to react to the current environment. Forward Looking Information (FLI), and
macroeconomic factors in a similar way with respect to changes in the level of credit risk. The Foundation’s current
AIRB and stress testing models form the basis of the segmentation approach with portfolios grouped to create PD,
LGD, and EAD segments as at the reporting date.

2.1.2

Impairment Provisioning policies

The Foundation has established a Credit Loss and Provisioning Policy which describes its principles and policies for
the identification, assessment, and recognition of impairment and for loss provisioning in respect of all financial assets
except those measured at Fair Value through the Profit & Loss. The internal rating tool assists management to
determine whether objective evidence of impairment exists based on the criteria set out by the Foundation in Note 1.3,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed based on
shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogenous.
Individually assessed impairment
Under IAS 39, impairment allowances were measured individually for assets that were individually significant and for
where there was evidence that an account was exhibiting significant financial difficulties, and where any further
deterioration was likely to lead to failure.
Under IFRS 9, whilst individual assessment remains for individually significant assets, the assessment is of expected
rather than incurred loss. The expected loss calculation is a present value calculation of the credit losses expected from
default events that may occur during a specified time period. The required time period being determined by risk at the
reporting date relative to that at origination. Collateral valuation and timing and costs of recovery will form a part of
the assessment.
Collectively assessed impairment
For collective assessment under IAS 39, the principal trigger point for impairment was the missing of a contractual
payment. The calculation methodology relied on the historical experience of pools of similar assets; hence the
impairment allowance was collective. The impairment calculation was typically based on a roll-rate approach, where
the percentage of assets that move from the initial delinquency to default was derived from statistical probabilities
based on historical experience.
ECL assessments under IFRS 9 are based upon forward looking modelled PD, EAD and LGD parameters which are
run at account level (at minimum for material portfolios) and applied across all assets from the point of
origination/booking. Where account level modelling is not feasible or justifiable, segment level models or pooled
assessments are applied. In such cases, segments are defined based on similar risk characteristics. Where
segment/pooled assessments are not feasible, benchmark parameters from relevant peer portfolios are applied in the
short term.
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Maximum Credit risk exposure (Financial Instruments subject to Impairment).
The table below summarizes the composition and risk profile of the Foundation’s financial assets subject to
impairment and are presented on an IFRS 9 classification and measurement basis.

Stage 1
Credit grade
1. Exceptional
2. Strong
3. Satisfactory
4. Acceptable
5. Less acceptable
6. Vulnerable
7. More vulnerable
8. Marginal
9. Special caution
10. Sub-performing
11. Default
Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance
Carrying amount

Mortgage loans - Amortized Cost
2021
ECL -Stages
Stage 2
Stage 3
Purchased credit
impaired

1,566,048
14,549,893
30,708,465
35,175,058
20,358,842
-

5,562,929
1,180,555
68,791,462
-

102,358,306

2020
Total

Total

15,766,757
2,178,732
985,837
255,141

-

1,566,048
14,549,893
30,708,465
35,175,058
20,358,842
5,562,929
1,180,555
84,558,219
2,178,732
985,837
255,141

75,534,946

19,186,467

-

197,079,719

202,592

4,489,035

2,457,581

-

7,149,208

102,155,714

71,045,911

16,728,886

-

189,930,511

2,101,119
12,541,912
37,941,605
57,251,561
42,774,035
14,992,912
3,426,871
22,500,844
5,671,555
1,525,314
419,124
-

201,146,852
5,442,303

-

195,704,549

Changes in Carrying Amount

Mortgage Loans
Loss allowance as at January 1, 2021
Movements with P&L impact
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
New financial assets originated or purchased
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Modification of contractual cash flows of financial
assets
Unwind of discount
Total net P&L charge during the period
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Financial assets derecognized during the period
Write-offs
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2021

Stage 1
12-month
ECL
134,818,920

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
45,726,438

Stage 3
Lifetime
ECL
20,601,494

Purchased
creditimpaired
-

Total
201,146,852

(40,342,624)
(3,543,545)
(88,354,672)
7,727,310
90,430,739
-

40,342,624
(9,633,918)
2,338,214
12,052,282
-

3,543,545
382,461
(23,722,908)
-

-

(97,988,590)
10,447,985
78,760,113
-

345,027

2,300,664

292,184

-

2,937,875

1,277,131
102,358,286

(7,180,552)
(6,112,756)
(4,369,715)
71,685
75,534,966

7,180,552
6,112,756
4,369,715
426,668
19,186,467

-

1,775,484
197,079,719
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The Investment measured at amortized cost is rated in the ECL model at stage 1. The stage is based on the international
rating of Land Aruba Government Bonds. As at March 2021 the rating is Standard & Poor's credit rating for Aruba
stands at BBB with stable outlook. The impaired amount is AFl 14.203 of the total investment of 11.7 million. The
Other debtors are 100% impaired in Stage 3 for a total amount AFl. 8.7 million.

Stage 1

Investments - Amortized Cost
2021
ECL -Stages
Stage 2 Stage 3 Purchased credit
impaired

2020
Total

Total

Credit grade
1. Performing
2. Under performing
3. Not performing

11,700,000
-

-

-

-

11,700,000
-

16,700,000
-

Gross carrying amount

11,700,000

-

-

-

11,700,000

16,700,000

14,203

-

-

-

14,203

33,631

11,685,797

-

-

-

11,685,797

16,666,369

Loss allowance
Carrying amount

The impairment of the rental debtors is for aging between 1- 2 two months for 85% in stage 3. Aging greater than 3
months are impaired for 100%. Total amount impaired is AFl. 7.4 million as at December 31, 2021.
Rent Debtors - Amortized Cost
Stage 1

Stage 2

2021
ECL -Stages
Purchased credit
impaired

Stage 3

Total

2020
Total

Credit grade
1. Performing
2. Under performing
3. Not performing

520,252
-

237,465
-

6,743,757

-

520,252
237,465
6,743,757

579,112
176,342
6,874,521

Gross carrying amount

520,252

237,465

6,743,757

-

7,501,474

7,629,975

Loss allowance

483,668

216,807

6,743,757

-

7,444,232

7,556,130

36,584

20,658

-

-

57,242

73,845

Carrying amount

The personal loans for a total amount of AFL. 0.9 million and the insurance debtors for the amount of AFl. 7.431 are
not subjected to impairment.

(2.2)

Liquidity risk
(i)

Risk management

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. On a continuous
or daily basis, the cash and cash equivalents and securities positions are monitored to maintain the minimum amount of
AFl. 15 to 20 million. This is largely due to the fact that there are continuously construction projects to be started,
which are dependent on the official agreement with the Government regarding the infrastructure costs and the future
rent subsidies for the tenant. Management estimates that this amount is enough for an institution as FCCA, where there
is no obligation to make payments instantly, but taking into consideration its repayment obligations on outstanding
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loan amounts and payments depending on building projects. Also, it should be noted that there is a buffer available
within investment properties (land etc.) that can be sold when cash is required.
FCCA only invests in time deposits and Government bonds that are favorably marketable and negotiable, minimizing
any risk. Besides that, investments in time deposits are only performed with local counterparts that are under the
supervision of the Central Bank of Aruba.

(ii)

Financing arrangements

The Foundation has no bank overdraft facilities nor any undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period.
(iii)

Maturities of financial liabilities

The tables below analyze the Foundation’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their
contractual maturities for all financial liabilities.
The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal
their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. For future contractual payments of leases, see
note 6.4.
Contractual maturities of
financial liabilities
At December 31, 2021
(in Aruban florin)
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Total
At December 31, 2020
(in Aruban florin)
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Total

(2.3)

Up to 1 year

Between 1 and 5
years

More than 5 years

Total

13,941,698
7,892,778
21,834,476

45,639,167
45,639,167

48,130,000
48,130,000

13,941,698
101,661,945
115,603,643

13,776,507
8,062,708
21,839,215

47,242,500
47,242,500

56,266,667
56,266,667

13,776,507
111,571,875
125,348,382

Competitive risk

Although that over the last few years FCCA has faced more and more fierce competition in the financial market, the
Foundation remains the only housing foundation with a mortgage bank to service to its specific target group with their
housing needs. The focus of other financial institutions is heavily dependent on the capital market and other
commercial products.

(2.4)

Market risk

Market risks the Foundations faces consist mainly of price risk and interest rate risk. Foreign exchange risk is
considered as low, since the Foundation holds no loans in foreign currencies.
Price risk is related to the value of the investments held by the Foundation as well as the risk related to the
Foundation’s exposure to price developments in the Aruban housing market. Interest rate risk is related to the interestbearing financial instruments, in particular the Foundation’s borrowings.
(i)

Risk management

The management of market risk has as its goal to maintain the market risk position within acceptable boundaries versus
the generation of an optimal return. To manage market risk, long-term Government bonds and time-deposits are
concluded at fixed interest rates and the available funds are kept as much as possible on interest-bearing bank accounts.
Given the market in which it operates, the Foundation can count on a steady number of clients for its products.
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The management of the interest rate risk against the interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the
sensitivity of FCCA’s financial assets and liabilities to expected interest rate scenarios.
The interest rate in the Foundation’s financial liabilities is fixed for five years, based on the refinancing of the
consortium loans during 2017 and will afterwards fluctuate based on the norm as defined in the terms starting as per
2022 (reference is made to note 4.1.5). Consequently, the interest rate risk on financial liabilities is limited.
The interest rate on the Foundation’s financial assets is determined by management taking into consideration the cost
of funding of FCCA and the market interest rate. Management periodically analyzes the effective interest rate of the
mortgage loans portfolio based on these considerations, including a 100 basis points (bp) parallel fall or rise in the
interest rate on the mortgage portfolio.
Exposure to interest rate risk
The following tables show the carrying values of the assets and liabilities, presented at the earliest interest due date or
contracted re-pricing date:

Interest period
At December 31, 2021
(in Aruban florin)

Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets - loans and receivables
Financial assets - investments measured at amortized costs
Inventory
Investment properties
Tangible fixed assets
Total assets
Trade and other payables
Lease liability
Employee benefit obligation
Borrowings
Total liabilities
Interest rate gap

Up to 1 year

Between 1
and 5 years

More than 5
years

Noninterest
bearing

Total

9,989,596
1,614,406
11,604,002
116,593
8,070,818
8,187,411
3,416,591

46,932,442
8,983,625
55,916,067
159,543
32,283,273
32,442,816
23,473,251

133,882,260
1,439,349
135,321,609
5,794,753
47,840,193
53,634,946
81,686,663

19,746,790
7,244,998
2,345,185
10,216,703
132,681,902
172,235,578
13,941,698
909,335
14,851,033
157,384,545

19,746,790
198,049,296
12,037,380
2,345,185
10,216,703
132,681,902
375,077,256
13,941,698
6,070,889
909,335
88,194,284
109,116,206
265,961,050

11,568,147
5,390,733
16,958,880
51,044
8,070,818
8,121,862
8,837,018

50,270,000
1,696,936
51,966,936
167,604
32,283,273
32,450,877
19,516,059

134,976,648
9,979,681
144,956,329
5,857,224
55,911,012
61,768,236
83,188,093

22,027,239
3,937,212
1,471,676
10,693,454
129,760,442
167,890,023
13,776,507
939,418
14,715,925
153,174,098

22,027,239
200,752,007
17,067,350
1,471,676
10,693,454
129,760,442
381,772,168
13,776,507
6,075,872
939,418
96,265,103
117,056,900
264,715,268

At December 31, 2020
(in Aruban florin)

Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets - loans and receivables
Financial assets - investments measured at amortized costs
Inventory
Investment properties
Tangible fixed assets
Total assets
Trade and other payables
Lease Liability
Employee benefit obligation
Borrowings
Total liabilities
Interest rate gap

(ii)

Sensitivity

An analysis of FCCA’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in mortgage loan interest rates, assuming no asymmetrical
movements in various interest rates and a constant Statement of Financial Position, is as follows:
(In thousands of Aruban florin)

100 bp parallel increase 100 bp parallel decrease

Sensitivity of projected net interest income 2021

1,693
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Sensitivity of projected net interest income 2020

2,300

(2,300)

As only the interest income is affected by an in- or decrease of the effective interest rate on mortgage loans, the
sensitivity of the reported equity equals the sensitivity of the projected net interest income by way of retained earnings
arising from increases or decreases in net interest income reported in the profit or loss.

(2.5)

Loss allowance

The loss allowance recognized in the period is impacted by a variety of factors such as transfers between stages due to
financial instruments experiencing significant increases or decreases in credit risk, step-up or step-down between 12month and lifetime ECL, additional allowances for new financial instruments recognized during the period, among
others. Refer to table presentation.
The table below explains the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and the end of the annual period.
Changes in Loss Allowance

Mortgage Loans
Loss allowance as at January 1, 2021
Movements with P&L impact
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
New financial assets originated or purchased
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
Changes to model assumptions and methodologies
Modification of contractual cash flows of financial
assets
Unwind of discount
Total net P&L charge during the period
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Financial assets derecognized during the period
Write-offs
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2021

(3)

Stage 1
12-month
ECL
394,411

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
3,363,768

Stage 3
Lifetime
ECL
1,684,124

Purchased
creditimpaired
-

Total
5,442,303

(1,541,893)
(448,480)
(155,035)
24,002
1,581,365
-

1,541,893
(39,003)
280,036
(1,611,442)
-

448,480
62,209
(1,403,784)
-

-

(194,038)
366,247
(1,433,861)
-

345,027

2,300,664

292,184

-

2,937,875

3,195
202,592

(1,066,222)
(272,106)
(8,553)
4,489,035

1,066,222
272,106
8,553
27,487
2,457,581

-

30,862
7,149,208

-

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Foundation defines capital risk as the risk that it may lose all or part of its capital invested, meaning its assets. This
is a measurement specifically monitored by the Central Bank of Aruba (CBA) for which the Foundation must submit
its calculations each month. Appendix 7 included in the Central Bank of Aruba monthly statement calculates the
Foundation’s capital adequacy against on the weighted risk value per asset type. As per year-end 2021 and 2020 the
Capital Ratio as defined by the Central Bank of Aruba was 104.07% respectively 102.99% (norm is 16%).
The Foundation invests its capital in mortgage loans and the development of rental houses. The investment in rental
properties is continuously maintained to upkeep their values at all times.
The Foundation’s objectives, when managing capital, are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns and benefits for its primary target group and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.
Internally, the Foundation monitors capital based on the debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt
divided by total equity.
This debt-to-equity ratio amounts for 2021 and 2020:
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(in Aruban florin)

Total debt
Total equity

2021

2020

109,116,206
265,961,050

117,104,452
264,714,706

0.41

0.44

Debt to equity ratio

During monthly ALCO meetings key management is kept informed about possible changes in investments and projects
and the effects on the Foundations capital adequacy are discussed.
Loan covenants FCCA Intercreditor Agreement (consortium loan)
The Foundation is required to comply with the following financial covenants:
• Debt service coverage ratio (DSCR; EBITDA divided by debt service) at a level equal to or exceeding 1.25;
• Loan delinquency ratio over the total loan portfolio (total outstanding balances of past due loans divided by the
total outstanding loan balances), shall not exceed 10% (ten percent);
• Solvency ratio (equity divided by total assets) is maintained at a level equal to or exceeding 30% (thirty
percent); and
• The total aggregate value of the principal amounts of the pledged mortgage loans pledged as Collateral will at all
times be at least 125% of the then outstanding Total Commitments.
The Foundation has complied with these covenants at the reporting date (see Key figures).
2021
71%
0.86
6.92%
108,854,595

Solvency ratio
Debt Service Coverage ratio
Mortgage Loan Delinquency ratio
Mortgage Loan Collateral (AFl.)
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1.98
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(4)

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(4.1)

Financial assets and financial liabilities

This note provides information about the Foundation’s financial instruments, including:
• an overview of all financial instruments held by the Foundation;
• specific information about each type of financial instrument;
• accounting policies; and
• information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including judgments and estimation uncertainty
involved.
The Foundation holds the following financial instruments:
(in Aruban florin)

Note#

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Investments in time deposits and government bonds
Cash and cash equivalents

4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

198,049,296
12,037,380
19,746,790
229,833,466

200,752,007
17,067,350
22,027,239
239,846,596

4.1.4
4.1.5

13,941,698
88,194,284
102,135,982

13,776,507
96,265,103
110,041,610

All financial instruments above are categorized as ‘financial assets/liabilities at amortized cost.
The Foundation’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in note 2. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial
assets mentioned above.

(4.1.1) Loans and receivables
(in Aruban florin)

Receivables
Provision for impairment
Loans
Provision for impairment
Total loans and receivables

Dec. 31, 2021
current
23,402,359
(16,157,361)
7,244,998
12,447,177
(2,457,581)
9,989,596
17,234,594

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
185,506,329
(4,691,627)
180,814,702
180,814,702

Dec. 31, 2020
current
20,282,163
(16,344,951)
3,937,212
13,252,271
(1,684,124)
11,568,147
15,505,359

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
189,004,826
(3,758,178)
185,246,648
185,246,648

Loans and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less, they are then classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. Collateral for
receivables (not being loans) is normally not obtained.
The Foundation’s impairment and other accounting policies for loans and receivables are outlined in notes 1.3.6 and
2.1.
Due to the short-term nature of the current loans and receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as
their fair value. For the non-current loans, the fair values differ to their carrying amounts.
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Loans and receivables are further specified as follows:
Loans and receivables - gross
(in Aruban florin)
Receivable Land Aruba
Net other debtors
Net rental property receivable
Receivable from Ennia for profit share risk insurance
Guarantee deposit utilities
Personnel receivables
Other receivables
Total receivables
Personal loans employees
Mortgage loans and purchase loans not covered by mortgage
deeds
Total loans

Note#
4.1.1.1
4.1.1.2
4.1.1.3

4.1.1.4
4.1.1.5

Total loans and receivables - gross
Provisions for impairments
(in Aruban florin)
Net other debtors
Net rental property receivable
Total provision for impairments - receivables
Mortgage loans and purchase loans not covered by mortgage
deeds

Note#
4.1.1.2
4.1.1.3

Dec. 31,
2021
current
3,682,184
8,733,037
7,501,474
396,655
1,051,747
16,687
2,020,575
23,402,359
287,819

Dec. 31,
2021
non-current
585,968

Dec. 31,
2020
current
1,354,233
8,817,678
7,629,975
35,462
838,692
80,031
1,526,092
20,282,163
349,666

Dec. 31,
2020
non-current
760,579

12,159,358
12,447,177

184,920,361
185,506,329

12,902,605
13,252,271

188,244,247
189,004,826

35,849,536

185,506,329

33,534,434

189,004,826

Dec. 31,
2021
current
8,713,129
7,444,232
16,157,361

Dec. 31,
2021
non-current
-

Dec. 31,
2020
current
8,788,821
7,556,130
16,344,951

Dec. 31,
2020
non-current
-

2,457,581

4,691,627

1,684,124

3,758,178

2,457,581

4,691,627

1,684,124

3,758,178

18,614,942

4,691,627

18,029,075

3,758,178

4.1.1.5

Total provision for impairments - loans
Total impairment for loans and receivables

(4.1.1.1) Receivable Land Aruba
(in Aruban florin)

Net operations of the rental property owned by Land Aruba
Interest payable due on loans
Compensation rent subsidy calculation for renters
Rent subsidy for FCCA rental houses

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

147,086
1,267
53,970
3,479,861
3,682,184

177,025
(199)
56,430
1,120,977
1,354,233

General
During year December 31, 2016, FCCA recognized the Settlement Agreement between the Foundation and Land
Aruba in the financial statements. As at December 31, 2021, the balance of AFl. 3,682,184 represents mostly the
receivable with regard to the management of the rent-subsidy commitment with the Government.
Net operations of the rental property owned by Land Aruba
As at December 31, 2021, Land Aruba has a net payable amount of AFl. 147,086 outstanding with regard to the
management and maintenance of her former social rental houses.
Compensation management rent subsidy policy
FCCA manages the rent Subsidy Policy on behalf of Land Aruba. The public in general based on conditions set forth
in the Subsidy Policy of Land Aruba are entitled to a rent subsidy. FCCA receives a compensation fee for the
management of the Subsidy Policy, established in 1979.
Rent Subsidy to social tenants of FCCA rental houses
The entitled rental subsidy of the tenants of FCCA social housing is directly paid by Land Aruba to FCCA. As per
December 31, 2021, the subsidy receivable from Land Aruba amounts to AFl. 3,479,861 representing 5 months of
subsidies.
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(4.1.1.2) Net other debtors
(in Aruban florin)

Other debtors
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts other debtors

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

8,733,037
(8,713,129)
19,908

8,817,678
(8,788,821)
28,857

The movement schedule for the allowance for doubtful accounts other debtors is as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Allowance as per January 1st
Addition to the allowance
Release of the allowance in favor of the net result
Write-off of doubtful debtors
Allowance as per December 31st

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

(8,788,821)
(244)
56,832
19,104
(8,713,129)

(8,518,451)
(473,786)
205,799
(2,383)
(8,788,821)

The allowance amounts to almost 100 percent of the outstanding amounts. Management estimates the probability to
receive the outstanding amounts unlikely, even though it continues to take action to collect them.
Write-offs are based on memos approved by Management in connection with doubtful debtors for which FCCA did not
receive payments in more than 10 years. Direct reductions in the outstanding amounts are only applicable if the
receivable has not been fully paid after the death of the debtor or for an otherwise special reason that the amount is not
deemed collectable by the lawyer.
Receivables from other debtors are specified as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Neither past due nor impaired
Individually impaired
Gross
Allowance for impairment
Net

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

19,908
8,713,129
8,733,037
(8,713,129)
19,908

28,857
8,788,821
8,817,678
(8,788,821)
28,857

The net amount of AFl. 19,908 consist mainly of amounts receivable for auctioned houses as per December 31,2021.
The category ‘individually impaired’ is specified as follows:
(in Aruban florin)
< 1 month
1 - 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
> 12 months
Total

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

620,790
165,328
231,714
409,953
7,305,252
8,733,037

1,001,450
117,206
115,157
433,970
7,149,895
8,817,678

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

7,501,474
(7,444,232)
57,242

7,629,975
(7,556,130)
73,845

(4.1.1.3) Net rental property receivables
(in Aruban florin)

Rental property receivables
Less: Allowance for rental property receivables
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In the net rental property receivables, an outstanding amount of AFl. 707K is included. The Foundation and Korps
Politie Aruba (KPA) reached a payment arrangement for this outstanding amount.
The movement schedule for the allowance for doubtful accounts other debtors is as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Allowance as per January 1st
Addition to the allowance
Release of the allowance in favor of the net result
Write-off of doubtful debtors
Allowance as per December 31st

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

(7,556,130)
(498,326)
403,742
206,482
(7,444,232)

(6,041,377)
(1,525,871)
11,118
(7,556,130)

The allowance is 100 percent of the outstanding balances older than two months. An ECL is calculated for amounts
which are not more than 2 months overdue. Management estimates the probability to receive the outstanding amounts
unlikely, even though it continues to take action to collect them. Write-offs are based on receivables older than 10
years and where the collections efforts have been exhausted. All write off are approved by management.
Rental property receivables are specified as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Neither past due nor impaired
Individually impaired
Gross
Allowance for impairment
Net

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

57,242
7,444,232
7,501,474
(7,444,232)
57,242

73,845
7,556,130
7,629,975
(7,556,130)
73,845

The net amount of AFl. 57,242 consists mainly of costs related to repair and maintenance of the rental houses, and
which are for the account of the rental debtors.
The category ‘individually impaired’ is specified as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

< 1 month
1 - 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
> 12 months
Total

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

38,464
229,756
326,248
746,437
6,160,569
7,501,474

37,860
283,883
281,058
963,933
6,063,241
7,629,975

(4.1.1.4) Personal loan employees
As per July 1st, 2012, it is possible for FCCA employees (excluding the directors) to obtain a personal loan for a
maximum amount of AFl. 45,000. This is an addition to the employees’ fringe benefits.
The repayment is by automatic deduction from the monthly salary. Any remaining balance at the termination of the
working relation with FCCA is immediately deducted from the last payout. Therefore, there is no need for impairment.
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(4.1.1.5) Mortgage loans
(in Aruban florin)

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

86,941,657
64,410,735
2,106,633
38,478,720
191,937,745
5,141,974
197,079,719
(7,149,208)
189,930,511

88,349,142
64,619,016
2,322,919
39,648,277
194,939,354
6,207,498
201,146,852
(5,442,303)
195,704,549

Construction mortgage loans
Purchase mortgage loans
Mortgage loans related to sale of Land Aruba houses
Other mortgage loans
Purchase loans not covered by mortgage deeds
Less: Allowances for expected credit losses

The granted mortgage loans have a loan term that ranges between 1 and 40 years and an interest percentage that ranges
from 1% to 11% per year. The following table presents the Mortgage loans portfolio in interest-categories as per
December 31, 2021.

Annual interest rates
Annual income categories (in AFl.
1,000)
Number of loans
Construction mortgage loans (AFl.)
Purchase Mortgage loans (AFl.)
Mortgage loans for purchase of Land
Aruba houses (AFl.)
Other mortgage loans (AFl.)
Total (AFl.)

11% on
capital up to
AFL 105,000

11% on
capital
more than
AFl.
105,000

Total (AFl.)

Average
maximu
m term of
the loans
(in years)

>= 45

>= 45

147,840

86,941,657
67,967,349

20.00
23.96

19,976
312,157

-

3,691,993
38,478,720

17.00
22.58

2,610,137

147,840

197,079,719

22.25

1.0 - 6.9%

7.0 - 9.75%

10.0 10.75%

6 - 18
514
5,766,993
1,483,952

18 - 30
1,208
68,749,721
49,887,023

30 - 45
460
11,312,462
15,283,011

129
1,112,481
1,165,523

122,470
6,609,459

2,785,990
27,394,640

763,557
4,162,464

13,982,874

148,817,374

31,521,494

The average annual interest rate for 2021 of the total portfolio is 9.00% (2020: 7.34%).
Each mortgage deed covers the nominal value of the specific loan plus a 40 percent increment and provides FCCA as
the principal beneficiary (the 1st priority right) at auction; only fiscal debts (tax liability of the client related to the
property) supersede the priority status of the FCCA.
In the outstanding balance of the purchase loans, an amount of AFl. 5,141,974 (December 31, 2020: AFl. 6,207,498)
with an average annual interest rate of 8.57% and an average maturity period of 20 years, is not covered by mortgage
deeds. These 116 loans (December 31, 2020: 132) were for the purchase of an ‘FCCA-’ and or ‘Land Aruba house’ but
for which the mortgage rights have not been vested as the legal rights could not be transferred as per balance sheet date
due to the omissions of the title register certificates and the respective ministerial decisions.
In the balance of other mortgage loans, 5 loans include loans to key management members of the Foundation for AFl.
1,101,811 as per December 31, 2021 (2020: AFl. 863,999). The average annual interest rate on these loans is 5.00 %.
The fair value of these loans is not significantly different to the carrying amount.
Collateral
The Foundation employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is
accepting collateral for mortgage loans. The Foundation has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes of
collateral for credit risk mitigation. The Foundation’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly
changed during the reporting period and there has been no change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the
Foundation.
The Foundation assess the value of the collateral, which can be premises or plot of land at the loan approval process.
This assessment is reviewed periodically (five years).
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A portion of the Foundation’s financial assets originated by the mortgage business has sufficiently low ‘loan to value’
(LTV) ratios, which results in no loss allowance being recognized in accordance with the Foundation’s expected credit
loss model. The carrying amount of such financial assets is AFl.137,813,165 as at December 31, 2021 (December 31,
2020: AFl. 142,376,991).
The Foundation closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes
more likely that the Foundation will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses.
As per December 31, 2021, an amount of AFl. 108,854,595 (December 31, 2020: AFl. 118,750,050) is pledged as
collateral for the Credit Facility Agreement. Reference is made to note 4.1.5 for further explanation.
The movement schedule for the allowances for expected credit losses is as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Provision as per January 1
Release / (Addition) on doubtful loans
Provision as per December 31

Aging of mortgage loans in months as per ECL model:
(in Aruban florin)

satisfactory
special mention
substandard
doubtful
loss
Total

< 1 month
1 - 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
> 12 months

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

(5,442,303)
(1,706,905)
(7,149,208)

(4,533,306)
(908,997)
(5,442,303)

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

109,483,359
73,951,647
9,260,628
1,919,575
2,464,510
197,079,719

150,107,572
35,333,704
8,158,781
5,055,394
2,491,401
201,146,852

(4.1.2) Investments measured at amortized cost
(in Aruban florin)

Time deposits
Interest receivable on time deposits
Government bonds
Total Investments measured at amortized cost
Provision for impairment

Dec. 31, 2021
current
351,583
1,263,000
1,614,583
(177)
1,614,406

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
1,700,000
8,737,000
10,437,000
(14,026)
10,422,974

Dec. 31, 2020
current
5,000,000
400,981
5,400,981
(10,248)
5,390,733

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
1,700,000
10,000,000
11,700,000
(23,383)
11,676,617

Investments in time deposits and government bonds are included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities
less than 12 months from the end of the reporting period, which would be classified as current assets. See note 1.3.5 for
the Foundation’s other accounting policies for financial assets.
All investments in time deposits and government bonds are denominated in Aruban florins. As a result, there is no
exposure to foreign currency risk.
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Investments in time deposits and government bonds can be further specified as follows:
Interest p/yr.

Maturity date

Current investments
Government Bonds
Time deposit held at Aruba Bank N.V.
Time deposit held at Banco di Caribe

6.00%
2.75%
2.00%

Non-current investments
Government Bonds
Time deposit held at CIBC FirstCaribbean Int'l Bank
Government Bonds
Government Bonds
Government Bonds
Government Bonds

6.00%
2.90%
5.15%
4.50%
6.00%
5.90%

(in Aruban florin)

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

December 2022
April 2021
December 2021

1,263,000
1,263,000

5,000,000
5,000,000

December 2022
February 2023
June 2023
September 2024
June 2025
May 2030

1,700,000
2,500,000
1,125,000
3,670,000
1,442,000
10,437,000
11,700,000

1,263,000
1,700,000
2,500,000
1,125,000
3,670,000
1,442,000
11,700,000
16,700,000

(4.1.3) Cash and cash equivalents
(in Aruban florin)

Cash
Cash at banks, current accounts

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

15,792
19,730,998
19,746,790

15,173
22,012,066
22,027,239

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
The remaining bank accounts and any other cash or cash equivalent are not restricted for use by FCCA.

(4.1.4) Trade and other payables
(in Aruban florin)

Accounts payable
Payroll and other statutory liabilities
Other payables and accrued expenses
Total Trade and other payables

4.1.4.1
4.1.4.2

Dec. 31, 2021
current
1,551,638
3,303,974
9,086,086
13,941,698

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
-

Dec. 31, 2020
current
1,486,633
2,895,621
9,394,253
13,776,507

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
-

Trade and other payables are unsecured. Trade payables are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their shortterm nature.

(4.1.4.1) Payroll and other statutory liabilities
(in Aruban florin)

Employees' savings plan
Vacation allowance and holiday accrual
Social premiums payable
Pension premiums payable
Wage tax payable
Other payroll and statutory liabilities
Total payroll and other statutory liabilities

Dec. 31, 2021
current
2,346,035
639,776
986
274,856
(19,715)
62,036
3,303,974

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
-

*Dec. 31, 2020
current
1,972,621
653,501
133,564
92,771
135
43,029
2,895,621

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
-

Employees' savings plan
FCCA personnel can participate exclusively by salary withholding in a savings plan that pays 8% interest per year,
with the exception of the two managing directors. Key-management's portion of the total amount is AFl. 368,990 as at
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December 31, 2021 (2020: AFl. 355,834). In 2021 a total amount of AFl. 34,800 (2020: AFl. 22,341) was paid on
interest.
* These comparative figures have been restated to illustrate the actual amount as prior year these were misstated. The
restatement has no influence on the 2020 financial figures.

(4.1.4.2) Other payables and accrued expenses
(in Aruban florin)

Payable 'settlement FCCA/Land Aruba'
Land lease and ground payable
Interest payable on loans Intercreditor Agreement - Vida Nova
Accrued expenses related to finished construction projects
Accrued expenses purchase loans
Mortgage loans prepayments
Audit payable
Other payables
Other accrued liabilities
Total other payables and accrued expenses

Dec. 31, 2021
current
1,621,389
1,566,034
1,451,389
941,453
282,454
410,601
480,440
586,260
1,746,066
9,086,086

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
-

Dec. 31, 2020
current
1,621,389
1,897,789
1,583,333
971,263
307,540
637,318
135,618
802,529
1,437,474
9,394,253

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
-

Settlement FCCA/Land Aruba
The balance of the Settlement FCCA/Land Aruba consists of a total amount of 1.6 million, which consist of the
following.
On December 6, 2016, the Parliament of Aruba approved the Declaration of Intent (“Intentieverklaring”), signed on
April 15, 2016, with the Government of Aruba, for execution by the Ministers. This gave approval to the Ministers to
execute the Settlement Agreement (“Vaststellingsovereenkomst”) with FCCA, The State Ordinance
(“Landsverordening”), dated December 13, 2016, was published, and registered as AB 2016 n. 67 on December 21,
2016. Subsequently, the settlement agreement has been administered by FCCA in the Financial Statements as per
December 31, 2016. From the settlement an amount of AFl. 3.9 million remained to invest in the infrastructure of
social housing projects and the Smart Community Project. As per December 31, 2021, an amount of AFl. 1,621,389
remained to be invested.
Accrued expenses purchase loans
The accrued expenses refer to legal title transfer cost of 116 properties (December 31, 2020: 132 loans) with regards to
the purchase of a ‘FCCA- ‘and/or ‘Land Aruba house’. Not all mortgage deeds have been vested and titled transferred
due to a backlog at the responsible governmental departments.

(4.1.4.3) Lease liabilities
(in Aruban florin)

Leasehold lands assets in exploitation
Leasehold lands investment properties
Leasehold copiers

Dec. 31, 2021
current
98,010
3,317
15,266
116,593

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
5,684,862
253,173
16,261
5,954,296

Dec. 31, 2020
current
28,273
2,803
19,968
51,044

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
5,812,065
183,609
29,154
6,024,828

Future minimum lease payments at December 31, 2021, were as follows:

December 31, 2021
Lease payments
Finance Charges
Net present value
December 31, 2020
Lease payments
Finance Charges
Net present value

Within 1 year

1 - 2 years

Minimum lease payments
2 - 3 years
3 - 4 years

4 - 5 years

After 5 years

Total

416,666
(300,073)
116,593
Within 1 year

344,710
(297,715)
46,995
1 - 2 years

332,927
(295,365)
37,562
2 - 3 years

330,065
(293,487)
36,578
3 - 4 years

330,065
(291,658)
38,407
4 - 5 years

15,002,573
(9,207,819)
5,794,754
After 5 years

16,757,006
(10,686,117)
6,070,889
Total

354,838
(303,794)
51,044

347,376
(301,241)
46,135

345,246
(298,935)
46,311

334,822
(296,619)
38,203

331,664
(294,709)
36,955

15,386,795
(9,529,571)
5,857,223

17,100,741
(11,024,869)
6,075,873
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The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of lease liability for low value assets is AFl.
104,123 as at December 31, 2021.

(4.1.5) Borrowings

(in Aruban florin)

Loans Land Aruba
Consortium Intercreditor Agreement - Vida Nova Bank N.V.
Success and commission fee Intercreditor Agreement - Vida Nova Bank
N.V.
Total borrowings

Dec. 31,
2021

Dec. 31,
2021

Dec. 31,
2020

current
200,000
7,916,667

non-current
1,400,000
79,166,666

current
200,000
7,916,667

Dec. 31,
2020
noncurrent
1,600,000
87,083,333

(45,848)
8,070,819

(443,201)
80,123,465

(45,848)
8,070,819

(489,049)
88,194,284

The following table gives an overview of the loan conditions and repayment schedules as well as the original and
carrying values:

Loans Land Aruba
Loan Land Aruba
Loan Intercreditor Agreement – Vida Nova

Year of
closing

Annual
nominal
interest rate

2009
2018

2.50%
5.00%

Annual repayment
(AFl.)
200,000
7,916,667

Year of
repayment
*
**

2029
2020-2032

* Repayment amount is AFL. 200,000, starting on September 16, 2020.

** Nominal interest rate is 5%. Loan granted on August 27, 2017. Repayment starts on the third year.

(in Aruban florin)

Loan Land Aruba
Loan Intercreditor Agreement – Vida Nova
Caribbean Mercantile Bank N.V.
Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds Aruba
Stichting F.P.E.F.
Banco di Caribe (Aruba) N.V.
Ennia Caribe Leven (Aruba) N.V.
Fatum Life Aruba N.V.
Stichting Pensioenfonds Metabedrijven
Stichting Pensionfund Tourism Sector Aruba

Dec. 31, 2021
Original
amount
2,000,000
2,000,000

Carrying
amount
1,600,000
1,600,000

Dec. 31, 2020
Original
amount
2,000,000
2,000,000

Carrying
amount
1,800,000
1,800,000

33,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
12,000,000
25,000,000
7,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
95,000,000
97,000,000

30,250,000
3,666,667
4,583,333
11,000,000
22,916,667
6,416,667
3,666,667
4,583,333
87,083,334
88,683,334

33,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
12,000,000
25,000,000
7,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
95,000,000
97,000,000

33,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
12,000,000
25,000,000
7,000,000
4,000,000
5,000,000
95,000,000
96,800,000

The contractual redemption of loans can be specified as follows:
Loan Land Aruba
Loan Intercreditor Agreement – Vida Nova

Year of
closing
2009
2019

Total
1,600,000
87,083,334
88,683,334

Less than
1 year
200,000
7,916,667
8,116,667

1-5 years
800,000
31,666,667
32,466,667

More than 5
years
600,000
47,500,000
48,100,000

(4.1.5.1) Loan Land Aruba - Social Housing - AFl. 2.000.000
The loan contract was signed in September 2009 with Land Aruba. According to the contract the loan had to be paid
out in five installments of AFl. 2 million, of which only the first was received in 2009. The interest percentage is 2.5%
p.a. and is calculated on the received amount, payable on September 16th of each year. The term of the loan is 20
years. The loan will be repaid in 10 consecutive payments of AFl. 200,000 starting on September 16th, 2020. It has

Page 47

Annual report 2021

Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano

been agreed, that as long as the loan has not been fully repaid, the pertaining assets can never be collateralized without
prior written consent of the Government of Aruba.

(4.1.5.2) Loan Intercreditor Agreement Vida Nova, 2017, AFl. 95,000,000
A loan Inter-creditor agreement was signed on August 28, 2017. As described in the AFl. 95,000,000 term loan facility
agreement, the loan agreement was made between the Foundation (Borrower), and a number of financial institutions
(Lenders) with Vidanova Bank N.V. as Agent (Administrative and Security Agent). Please refer to note 4.1.5 for the
breakdown of the lenders participation amount and note 3 for the loan covenants.
The total amount of the consortium loan is AFl. 95,000,000 with an interest rate of 5%, term of 30-years, repayment
grace period of 3 years with first interest payment as per March 1st, the first fixed principal repayment is due on
March 1 and September 1 of each year starting as per March 1, 2021.
The consortium loans are secured by:
Assigned accounts receivables at all times for a total amount such that the coverage value of the assigned accounts
receivable is equal to 125% of the total outstanding amount under the loan agreement on a pari passu pro-rata basis
with all lenders under the loan agreement, also complying with the following standards:
o The encumbered mortgage loan portfolio shall consist of mortgage loans that are not delinquent mortgage
loans;
o Any mortgage loan as part of the encumbered mortgage loan portfolio that becomes a delinquent mortgage
loan shall be replaced by the Foundation by a non-delinquent mortgage loan out of its mortgage loan
portfolio;
o In the event of any mortgage loan as part of the encumbered mortgage loan portfolio matures or is repaid,
the Foundation shall replace that mortgage loan with a new non-delinquent mortgage loan out of the
mortgage loan portfolio.
b. General undisclosed pledge of monies and claims, present and future other than the pledge under the prior item a.
to restore minimum coverage value under the prior item a. in the event that this minimum coverage value is not
met.
The carrying amount of financial assets pledged as collateral for liabilities is AFl. 3,239,138.
For existing financial covenants that should be met, reference is made to note 3.

(4.1.5.3) Fair value
Total fair value of the borrowings is estimated at AFl. 88,194,284 (2020: AFl. 96,265,103). This fair value of
borrowings is based on discounted cash flows using a current borrowing rate of 5%. They are classified as level 3 fair
values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs, including own credit risk.

(4.1.5.4) Risk exposures
Details of the Foundation’s exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in note 2.

(4.2)

Non-financial assets and liabilities

This note provides information about the Foundation’s non-financial assets and liabilities, including:
• Specific information about each type of non-financial assets and liabilities, including:
o Investment properties
o Tangible fixed assets
o Employee benefit obligations
• Accounting policies
• Information about determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities, including judgments and estimation
uncertainty involved.
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(4.2.1) Investment properties
(in Aruban florin)

Investment properties
Right-of-use leasehold lands

Note#

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

4.2.1.1
4.2.1.2

9,965,505
251,198
10,216,703

10,515,613
177,841
10,693,454

(4.2.1.1) Investment property

(in Aruban florin)

Cost:
Cost as at December 31, 2019
Investments
Disposal
Impairment
Cost as at December 31, 2020
Accumulated depreciation
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2019
Depreciation
Acc. depreciation on disposal
Impairment
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2020
Carrying value as at December 31, 2020

(in Aruban florin)

Cost:
Cost as at December 31, 2020
Investments
Disposal
Cost as at December 31, 2021
Accumulated depreciation
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2020
Depreciation
Acc. depreciation on disposal
Impairment
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2021
Carrying value as at December 31, 2021

Tangible fixed
properties
Bonaire

Tangible fixed
properties
Aruba

Total

180,001
180,001

15,672,229
15,672,229

15,852,230
15,852,230

180,001

(4,950,193)
(386,424)
(5,336,617)
10,335,612

(4,950,193)
(386,424)
(5,336,617)
10,515,613

Tangible fixed
properties
Bonaire

Tangible fixed
properties
Aruba

Total

180,001
(180,000)
1

15,672,229
21,820
15,694,049

15,852,230
21,820
(180,000)
15,694,050

1

(5,336,617)
(391,928)
(5,728,545)
9,965,504

(5,336,617)
(391,928)
(5,728,545)
9,965,505

Investment properties consist of land and buildings in Aruba and Bonaire.
These assets are measured at cost based on internal estimation reports. Land is not depreciated, however on the
buildings a remaining useful life, which ranges from 15 to 50 years depending on the property, is taken into
consideration from the date of purchase being November 3, 2003.
FCCA has long lease land of 23,080 m2 purchased in Bonaire for AFl. 105,025 that has been impaired. The fair value
of all properties in Bonaire, based on appraisals performed in 2018, is AFl. 286,980. A great portion of the land in
Bonaire has been sold as per July 2021.
.
The fair value of the property in Aruba, based on appraisals performed between 2015 and 2021, is AFl. 26,379,660.
Additionally, the Foundation has some individual long lease land available for construction.

(4.2.1.2) Right-of-use assets
(in Aruban florin)

Leasehold lands investment properties
Total right-of-use assets
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The table below describes the nature of the Foundation's leasing activities by type of right-of-use assets recognized on
the Statement of Financial Position:
Right-of-use
asset

Investment
properties

No. of rightof-use assets
leased

Range of
remaining
term

Average
remaining
lease term

No. of leases
with
extension
options

No. of leases
with options
to purchase

No. of leases
with variable
payments linked
to an index

No. of leases
with
termination
options

3

14 - 30
years

26 years

3

0

0

0

(4.2.2) Tangible fixed assets
(in Aruban florin)

Tangible fixed assets in exploitation
Tangible fixed assets for own use
Right-of-use assets in exploitation and own use

Note#

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

4.2.2.1
4.2.2.2
4.2.2.3

123,644,189
3,460,915
5,576,798
132,681,902

120,295,067
3,652,249
5,813,126
129,760,442

(4.2.2.1) Tangible fixed assets in exploitation

(in Aruban florin)

Cost:
Cost as at December 31, 2019
Investments
Completed projects
Adjustment due to re-allocation
Repurchases
Disposal and sale of assets
Cost as at December 31, 2020
Accumulated depreciation:
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2019
Depreciation
Acc. depreciation on disposal
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2020
Carrying value as at December 31, 2020

(in Aruban florin)

Cost:
Cost as at December 31, 2020
Investments
Completed projects
Adjustment due to re-allocation
Repurchases
Impairment
Disposal and sale of assets
Cost as at December 31, 2021
Accumulated depreciation:
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2020
Depreciation
Acc. depreciation on disposal
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2021
Carrying value as at December 31, 2021

Community
center
facilities

Rental
property

Projects in
progress
and land

Total

2,848,818
15,588
2,864,406

126,337,115
9,690,583
(421)
136,027,277

17,985,436
14,705,122
(9,706,171)
236,467
23,220,854

147,171,369
14,705,122
236,046
162,112,537

(947,730)
(137,182)
(1,084,912)
1,779,494

(37,254,553)
(3,478,005)
(40,732,558)
95,294,719

23,220,854

(38,202,283)
(3,615,187)
(41,817,470)
120,295,067

Community
center
facilities

Rental
property

Projects in
progress
and land

Total

2,864,406
72,838
(107,261)
2,829,983

136,027,277
14,050,912
152,869
288,000
(184,855)
(227,238)
150,106,965

23,220,854
8,441,404
(14,123,750)
(152,869)
(1,194,742)
16,190,897

162,112,537
8,441,404
288,000
(184,855)
(1,529,241)
169,127,845

(1,084,912)
(138,949)
106,368
(1,117,493)
1,712,490

(40,732,558)
(3,830,063)
196,458
(44,366,163)
105,740,802

16,190,897

(41,817,470)
(3,969,012)
302,826
(45,483,656)
123,644,189

Community center facilities
FCCA has created recreation parks in Madiki, Mabon and other districts of the FCCA housing projects. FCCA also
provides common community facility quarters in the districts for the police, the district warden and FCCA employees.
These common community facility quarters destined for the police and the district warden was inaugurated in 2004 in
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Cura Cabai and Mabon, Bushiri, Madiki and Jaburibari in 2006. Cura Cabai Zuid in 2012. The above is to improve and
maintain the living conditions of the residents in the districts as per the statement "Bo vecindario, Bo orguyo".
As per to date the legal rights of land at Madiki and Mabon were not transferred to FCCA due to the omission of the
certificates of registry and the respective ministerial decisions. Based on the ministerial commitment and the fact that
these lands are destined for social housing assigned to FCCA the social houses were constructed and capitalized.
Rental property
Rental property in exploitation can be further broken down into houses purchased at auctions, commercial rental
houses, social houses, model houses, special customized houses, combination houses, repurchased houses, office
buildings and parking lots and finished projects. Not all the legal rights have been transferred to FCCA due to the
omissions of the respective registry certificates and ministerial decisions caused by delays at the concerning
government departments The buildings at Cura Cabai, a few houses at Seroe Patrishi, Paradera, Avicenastraat, Tanki
Leendert and Isaac Wagemakerstraat are built on property land. Based on internal valuation value of the rental property
in exploitation approximates a total amount of nearly AFl. 244 million (2020: 245).
The tangible property available for sale has been reclassified to Inventory as at June 30, 2021.
Projects in progress and land
(in Aruban florin)

Construction projects in progress
Land
Total

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

9,835,786
6,355,111
16,190,897

16,397,660
6,823,194
23,220,854

Construction projects in progress amounts to AFl.9,835,786 (December 31, 2020: AFl. 16,397,660) relates to projects
that are ongoing as per Statement of Financial Position date, consisting out of residential blocks of 8 apartments at
Hato, Isaac Wagemakerstraat, Weg Kustbatterij and Santa Cruz, replacement of majority of windows at Bushiri II and
Cura Cabai Zuid, and the placement of fences at several locations.
Land refers to property land at Cura Cabai, Maria Maai, Shaba, Canashito, Rooi Bosal, Weg Seroe Preto, Weg Fontein,
Savaneta, Weg Rooi Hundo, and Alto Vista for a total amount of AFl. 6,355,111 (December 31, 2020: AFl.
6,823,194).
The offices of FCCA and two branches are on lease land. With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low
value underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the Statement of Financial Position as a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability.
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(4.2.2.2) Tangible fixed assets for own use

(in Aruban florin)

Cost:
Cost as at December 31, 2019
Investments
Disposal
Cost as at December 31, 2020
Accumulated depreciation:
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2019
Depreciation
Depreciation on adjustment due to re-allocation
Acc. depreciation on disposal of assets
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2020
Carrying value as at December 31, 2020

(in Aruban florin)

Cost:
Cost as at December 31, 2020
Investments
Disposal
Cost as at December 31, 2021
Accumulated depreciation:
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2020
Depreciation
Acc. depreciation on disposal
Acc. depreciation as at December 31, 2021
Carrying value as at December 31, 2021

Office
building and
building
improvements

Furniture
equipment &
computer
equipment

Vehicles

Total

6,321,708
71,997
6,393,705

8,117,104
377,581
(202,735)
8,291,950

1,632,552
166,240
(129,465)
1,669,327

16,071,364
615,818
(332,200)
16,354,982

(4,015,877)
(154,711)
(4,170,588)
2,223,117

(6,832,363)
(452,726)
184,929
(7,100,160)
1,191,790

(1,488,140)
(73,310)
129,465
(1,431,985)
237,342

(12,336,380)
(680,747)
314,394
(12,702,733)
3,652,249

Office
building and
building
improvements

Furniture
equipment &
computer
equipment

Vehicles

Total

6,393,705
14,377
(5,500)
6,402,582

8,291,950
287,160
(1,035,588)
7,543,522

1,669,327
221,315
(251,005)
1,639,637

16,354,982
522,852
(1,292,093)
15,585,741

(4,170,588)
(154,850)
5,500
(4,319,938)
2,082,644

(7,100,160)
(449,404)
1,026,729
(6,522,835)
1,020,687

(1,431,985)
(101,073)
251,005
(1,282,053)
357,584

(12,702,733)
(705,327)
1,283,234
(12,124,826)
3,460,915

Management did not identify any indications that would require the impairment of these assets.
Some of the properties serve as security for the Loan Vidanova N.V. & Consortium, 2017. Reference is made to note
4.1.5.

(4.2.2.3) Right-of-use assets
(in Aruban florin)

Leasehold lands assets in exploitation
Leasehold copiers
Total right-of-use assets

Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

5,526,379
50,419
5,576,798

5,752,453
60,673
5,813,126

The table below describes the nature of the Foundation's leasing activities by type of right-of-use assets recognized on
Statement of Financial Position:
Right-of-use asset
Office buildings and
other rental
properties
Office equipment

No. of right-of- Range of
use assets leased remaining
term

Average No. of leases with No. of leases with No. of leases with No. of leases with
remaining extension options
options to variable payments
termination
lease term
purchase linked to an index
options

1,088 5 - 60 years

41 years

1,088

0

0

0

2-5
years

3 years

2

0

0

0

3
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(4.2.3) Employee benefit obligations
Employee benefit obligations consist of a provision for anniversary allowances. This provision, which is unfunded, is
based on the number of years that employees are in service at the Foundation. The movement in this provision can be
specified as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Provision for anniversary allowances
Total employee benefit obligations
January 1
Contribution by the employer
Payments from the plan
Release from the allowance
December 31

Dec. 31, 2021
current
-

Dec. 31, 2021
non-current
909,335
909,335
939,418
67,107
(61,825)
(35,365)
909,335

Dec. 31, 2020
current
-

Dec. 31, 2020
non-current
939,418
939,418
887,602
92,276
(40,460)
939,418

The provision for anniversary allowance is completely of a non-current nature and has therefore been recognized as
such.
The significant assumptions applied in estimating this provision are:
- Discount rate
4.5% per annum
- General salary increase
1.5% per year
- Unemployment risk
1.00%
- Life expectancy
GMB/GBV 1995-2000
The sensitivity of the provision for anniversary allowances to changes in the main assumptions is:
Change in assumption

Impact on the provision for anniversary allowance
Increase in assumption
Decrease in assumption

Discount rate
0.5%
-4.3%
4.6%
General salary increase
0.5%
4.8%
-4.5%
Unemployment risk
0.5%
-4.7%
+5.0%
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.

(4.3)

Capital

(4.3.1) Retained earnings
The retained earnings include a total amount of AFl. 65,826,155 (2020: AFl. 65,826,155) of grants from government
for construction purposes in the past. Grants from the sale of social houses are recognized at the date of the loan
agreement with the buyer or at the moment of the cash sale.
Up until 2015, this item was presented as a separate line item in capital. As per 2016, as a result of a settlement
agreement with the Government of Aruba, this item has been reclassified to retained earnings.
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The amount of AFl. 65,826,155 can be specified as follows:

(in Aruban florin)
Balance at December 31, 2019
Received grants
Balance at December 31, 2020
Received grants
Balance at December 31, 2021

Self construction
projects

Office
building

Housing
complex
Madiki

Social
housing

Transferred
houses

Total

29,750,000
29,750,000
29,750,000

418,684
418,684
418,684

2,500,000
2,500,000
2,500,000

29,155,212
29,155,212
29,155,212

4,002,259
4,002,259
4,002,259

65,826,155
65,826,155
65,826,155

Grants 1979-1992
These are grants, amounting up to AFl. 32,668,684 to December 31, 2021, from Land Aruba by means of development
funds received for the self-construction projects, the FCCA main office building and the housing complex in Madiki.
Self-construction projects
FCCA received for the self-construction project funding up to 1991 from Land Aruba from development funds, of
which 50% in the form of a grant amounting to AFl. 29,750,000.
Office building
FCCA received for the funding of the office building at Sabana Blanco a total amount of AFl. 1,494,000 from Land
Aruba from development funding in 1982, of which an amount of AFl. 418.684 was received in the form of a grant.
Housing complex Madiki
The Settlement Agreement with the Government of Aruba in December 2016, The Government of Aruba granted AFl.
2,500,000, being 50% of the funding for the 100 Madiki houses, according to the State Ordinance AB 1983 no.7 of
June 14, 1983. The grant was ultimately formalized in the settlement agreement dated December 2016, published, and
registered as AB 2016 n. 67 on December 21, 2016, and capitalized in the Financial Statement as per December 31,
2016.
Social housing grants 1995-2015
In 1995 Government of Aruba granted the proceeds from the sale of the rental houses of Land Aruba to FCCA to be
immediately reinvested for social housing, which was formalized by the council of Ministers on October 3, 1997.
Transferred houses from Land Aruba
In 2012 FCCA has received 150 houses (Juana Morto Complex, Yara Complex and Pos Chiquito complex) for a total
of AFl. 7,450,000 of which AFl. 4,002,259 in the form of a grant.
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(5) NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(5.1) Revenues from financial activities
Note#

(in Aruban florin)

Interest and similar revenues
Commission income

5.1.1

2021

2020

16,412,073
229,683
16,641,756

18,472,605
281,833
18,754,438

(5.1.1) Interest and similar revenues
(in Aruban florin)

Interest from (mortgage) loans
Interest from bank deposits and bank balances
Interest earned during construction of houses
Interest earned on personal loans employees

2021

2020

15,233,650
743,310
337,317
97,796
16,412,073

16,885,436
1,068,711
394,521
123,937
18,472,605

Interest from (mortgage) loans
For 2021 the Foundation revenue shows a decrease in its revenues from financial activities, which is mainly caused
with the restructuring at a lower interest rate to the clients based on their lower disposable income as result of the
pandemic. Due to the pandemic also less new mortgages were issued with as consequence a decrease of the loan
portfolio.
The Foundation’s financial assets which are categorized as mortgage loans interest income are a part of the IFRS 9
ECL model calculations.

(5.2)

Revenues from real estate activities
Note#

(in Aruban florin)

Rental revenue

5.2.1

2021

2020

14,679,869
14,679,869

13,596,197
13,596,197

(5.2.1) Rental revenue
2021

(in Aruban florin)

Rental revenue
Loss of rent
Compensation for calculation of rent subsidy
Administrative fee
Other

15,350,083
(735,744)
53,970
7,390
4,170
14,679,869

2020
14,423,767
(901,609)
56,430
5,685
11,924
13,596,197

FCCA's rental houses inventory amounts to 1,736 rental houses/buildings as per December 31, 2021 (1,648 as per
December 31, 2020).
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(5.3)

Other income
Note#

(in Aruban florin)

Profit from sale of assets
Insurance brokerage commission
Other net income

5.3.1
5.3.2
5.3.4

2021

2020

1,219,544
878,269
1,794,938
3,892,751

265,723
414,715
1,372,566
2,053,004

(5.3.1) Profit from sale of assets
(in Aruban florin)

Result from sale of assets in Aruba
Result from sale of assets in Bonaire

2021

2020

102,160
1,117,384
1,219,544

265,723
265,723

Sale of assets in Aruba refers to the sale of 3 plots of land at Shaba, and 2 plots of land at Moko. Sale of assets in
Bonaire refers to the sale of 2 plots of land at Antriol, Bonaire.

(5.3.2) Insurance brokerage commission
(in Aruban florin)

Compensation for administrative calculations risk insurance
Profit share risk insurance mortgage debtors
Commission income insurance brokerage

2021

2020

217,162
361,192
299,915
878,269

250,769
(10,964)
174,910
414,715

FCCA acts as the insurance broker for its home mortgage clients and as such the client pays a compensation for the
administrative calculation and FCCA receives a commission from the insurance company.
The Foundation has a collective risk insurance policy for its home mortgage clients as part of the home mortgage loan
package, which includes a profit-share agreement. The benefits for the clients are the low premium and extensive
coverage, while FCCA shares in the profit on a periodic basis as stipulated in the contract with the insurance company.
The actual 2021 profit share out of the risk insurance contract is AFl. 360,295.

(5.3.3) Government grants received
FCCA did not receive any government grants during the year 2021.

(5.3.4) Other net income
(in Aruban florin)

Income from calculating mortgage loans
Real Estate Brokerage commission
Release of accrued property taxes
Other

2021

2020

18,753
286,693
1,489,492
1,794,938

16,205
6,200
997,040
353,121
1,372,566

Release of accrued property taxes refers to reversal of the year 2016.
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(5.4)

Release/ (Addition) to provision for doubtful accounts – credit impairment loss

(in Aruban florin)

Mortgage loans receivables
Investments receivables
Rental Property receivables
Other debtors
See note 5.1.1 for further reference.

(5.5)

2021

2020

(1,706,905)
19,428
(94,583)
56,588
(1,725,472)

(908,997)
26,945
(1,525,873)
(267,987)
(2,675,912)

Personnel expenses

(in Aruban florin)

Salaries and allowances
Pension contribution
Social premiums
Provision for anniversary allowances
Other personnel expenses
Less: Capitalized personnel expenditures
Less: Invoiced sick leave days at SVB

2021

2020

9,832,980
761,468
1,786,940
31,751
480,180
12,893,319
(337,231)
(66,897)
12,489,191

9,276,091
685,427
1,738,775
92,276
606,800
12,399,369
(381,443)
(49,976)
11,967,950

The increase in salaries and allowances is due to the given annual increments, increase in allowances and one time
leave packages for three employees.
Personnel expenses made on behalf of construction projects (assets), or maintenance work carried out at the expense of
the tenant are capitalized.
Compensation of key management is included in the personnel expenses. For further details, reference is made to note
6.1 "Related parties" and note 6.4 "Contingent assets and contingent liabilities".
For the employees of the Foundation the collective fringe benefits are documented in a "Rechtspositieregeling" or a
collective labor agreement (CAO).
At the end of 2021 the Foundation had 101 employees (at the end of 2020: 104).
The employees’ pension plan is a defined contribution plan at an insurance company, which expires as per December
31, 2024. The accumulated capital at pension age is converted into a pension. Annually a premium becomes available
for retirement spending and for coverage in case of risk of early demise. The amount of the premium depends on the
salary and age of the participant. The participant contributes with 5% of his annual salary and the remainder is
contributed by the Foundation.
FCCA contribution to the collective pension plan starts with 5% in the age group of 18-40 years to a maximum of 17%
based on age category.
A separate agreement has been signed in 2017 for temporary workers with more than 2 months employment.
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(5.6)

General expenses

(in Aruban florin)

Operating expenses
Audit, legal and consulting expenses
Communication expenses
Transportation expenses
Collection expenses
Representation and promotion expenses
Turnover taxes
Expenses related to granting of mortgage loans
Write-off payables previous years
Other general expenses

2021

2020

1,155,305
1,010,579
360,331
226,712
297,350
207,315
167,710
374,471
374,410
945,180
5,119,363

1,222,698
892,417
348,306
350,559
328,531
255,766
138,469
282,051
161,648
928,123
4,908,568

Compensation of supervisory board members is included in other general expenses. For further details, reference is
made to note 6.1 "Related parties".

(5.7)

Property expenses
Note#

(in Aruban florin)

Expenses for rental property owned by the Foundation
Expenses for construction projects in progress
Expenses for investment properties

5.7.1
5.7.2
5.7.3

2021

2020

3,495,088
553,732
478,070
4,526,890

3,866,057
189,859
399,548
4,455,464

2021

*2020

335,793
638,551
387,312
2,133,432
3,495,088

319,856
564,470
476,400
2,505,331
3,866,057

(5.7.1) Expenses for rental property owned by the Foundation
(in Aruban florin)

Insurance expense
Leasehold and property taxes
Administrative and social management expenses
Maintenance expenses

* These comparative figures have been restated to illustrate the actual amount as prior year these were misstated. The
restatement has no influence on the 2020 financial figures.

(5.7.2) Expenses for construction projects in progress
(in Aruban florin)

Project-development expenses
Expense related to activities for groundbreaking or completion of projects
Property taxes
Other
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(5.7.3) Expenses for investment properties
(in Aruban florin)

Insurance expense
Leasehold and property taxes
Maintenance expenses
Other

2021

2020

20,124
103,483
175,165
179,298
478,070

19,646
95,067
201,266
83,569
399,548

For further details on expenses for investment properties rented (5.7.3.1) and investment properties not rented (5.7.3.2)
are shown in the tables below.

(5.7.3.1) Expenses for investment properties rented as at December 31, 2021
(in Aruban florin)

Insurance expense
Leasehold and property taxes
Maintenance expenses
Other

2021

2020

16,430
88,193
160,920
10,120
275,663

8,494
41,409
151,223
3,894
205,020

(5.7.3.2) Expenses for investment properties vacant as at December 31, 2021
(in Aruban florin)

Insurance expense
Leasehold and property taxes
Maintenance expenses
Other

(5.8)

2020

3,694
15,290
14,245
169,178
202,407

11,152
53,658
50,043
79,675
194,528

2021

2020

3,969,012
705,327
391,928
5,066,267

3,615,187
680,747
386,425
4,682,359

2021

2020

4,562,631
478,780
5,041,411

4,798,672
476,647
5,275,319

Depreciation

(in Aruban florin)

Depreciation on Fixed Assets in Exploitation
Depreciation on Fixed Assets for own use
Depreciation on Investment Properties

(5.9)

2021

Finance costs
Note#

(in Aruban florin)

Interest and similar expenses
Closing and finance costs

5.9.1
5.9.2
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(5.9.1) Interest and similar expenses
(in Aruban florin)

Interest loans Land Aruba
Interest loans Intercreditor Agreement - Vida Nova
Other interest expenses

2021

2020

43,534
4,519,097
4,562,631

48,672
4,750,000
4,798,672

(5.9.2) Closing and finance costs
(in Aruban florin)

Interest on leases (IFRS16)
Administrative costs of loans received
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(6)

OTHER NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021

(6.1)

Related parties

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures' FCCA has identified the following related
parties:
• Land Aruba
• Key-management, consisting of the Board of Supervisory Directors, the Board of Managing Directors, and the
Division heads.
Land Aruba
FCCA is not owned or controlled by the Government, but the Minister appoints two of the five members of the Board
of Supervisory Directors.
The Foundation informs the Minister in writing of resolutions it has adopted with regard to:
a. the adoption of public housing standards;
b. the location of the housing projects to be developed;
c. the programming of urban development;
d. the standardization of housing allocation;
e. the preparation of longer time schedules of the building program;
f. the development of building programs that require infrastructural works; and
g. any adjustment of the Foundation’s Bylaws.
The Foundation has transactions with Land Aruba. Up to December 2016 FCCA has managed and maintained the
social houses of the Government of Aruba; as a result of the Settlement Agreement of December 2016 the social
houses have become property of the Foundation.
The rent subsidy entitled to the tenants of the social houses are directly transferred by the Government of Aruba.
Additionally, the Foundation is dependent on the Government of Aruba for the long lease land for the construction of
social housing projects including the concerning infrastructure.
For the nature of the transactions and balance amounts, and the relationship between the Foundation and Government
of Aruba, reference is made to the following notes:
• Note 4.1.5 "Borrowings"
• Note 4.1.1.1 “Receivable with Land Aruba”
• Note 4.3.1 “Retained Earnings”
• Note 5.9.1 “Interest and Similar Expenses”
The transactions between FCCA and this related party during the year were made in the ordinary course of business
and within the framework of implementing the housing policy of Land Aruba.
Key-management
The compensation of key-management during the year 2021 can be specified as follows:
(in Aruban florin)

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other compensations
Total key-management compensation

2021

2020

2,716,235
320,958
3,037,193

2,388,098
208,898
8,850
2,605,846

Reference is also made to note 5.5 "Personnel expenses”, note 5.6 "General expenses" and note 6.4 "Contingent assets
and contingent liabilities".
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(6.2)

Irrevocable facilities and commitments

As at December 31, 2021, FCCA has approximately AFl. 4.4 million (December 31, 2020: AFl. 3.3 million) of
approved mortgage loan facilities that were not yet drawn by the borrowers.
As at December 31, 2021, FCCA has approximately AFl. 0.8 million (December 31, 2020: AFl. 3.1 million)
outstanding of committed liabilities based on signed construction agreements.

(6.3)

Subsequent events

Tax ruling
As of January 2021 FCCA, will be subjected to profit tax. For further information refer to note 6.4.

(6.4)

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Current account Land Aruba
Reference is made to note 4.1.1.1 “Current account Land Aruba” for details. All contingent assets and liabilities as per
December 31, 2014, were settled with the formal approval on December 6, 2016, by the Parliament of Aruba of the
agreement resulting from the Declaration of Intent (“Intentieverklaring”) signed on April 15, 2016, by FCCA and the
Government. This gave approval to the Minister of Finance and Government Organization, the Minister of General
Affairs, Science, Innovation and Sustainable Development and the Minister of Regional Planning, Infrastructure, and
Integration to execute the Settlement Agreement (“Vaststellingsovereenkomst”) with FCCA, by which the contingent
assets and contingent liabilities with Land Aruba have been paid and accepted as administered by FCCA.
The State Ordinance (“Landsverordening”), dated December 13, 2016, was published, and registered as AB 2016 n. 67
on December 21, 2016. Subsequently, the settlement agreement has been recognized by FCCA in the financial
statements as per December 31, 2016.
Lease land commitments
Reference is made to note 4.2 “Non-financial assets and liabilities” for details.
FCCA has long lease land in Bonaire, the lease expires in 2050. The future commitments with respect to the long lease
are:
• Less than 1 year: AFl. 4,949
• 1 – 5 years: AFl. 19,795
• More than 5 years: AFl. 116,705
FCCA has Tangible fixed assets, Investment properties built on long lease land as well as long lease land available for
construction projects in Aruba.
The future commitments with respect to the long lease are:
• - Less than 1 year: AFl. 325,440
• - 1 – 5 years: AFl. 1,300,762
• - More than 5 years: AFl. 14,885,278
Legal claims
As at December 31, 2021, FCCA has approximately AFl. 0 of mortgage loans with arrears at the collection agency for
which payments arrangements has been agreed. FCCA has also AFl. 1,873 of mortgage loans for former/ex mortgage
debtors at the collection agency with no possible redress or embargo through employer or payment arrangements.
In 2020 FCCA had a dispute in court that continued from 2018 concerning a ‘former’ employee who left the
Foundation on his pension date. This employee has lost all his cases in court against the Foundation and is now seeking
compensation for all the damages received during this process. The chances of receiving compensations for lost cases
is very low. This case is still pending. FCCA didn't need any provision related to these disputes.
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In 2021 FCCA filed a lawsuit against an employee who has ancillary activities outside of the job, and wherein FCCA
is requesting compliance of the regulations pertaining to these activities. FCCA did not win this case in the court of
first instance and appealed. This case is still pending. FCCA didn't need any provision related to these disputes.
Profit Tax
On January 4, 2021, FCCA received a letter from the DIMP Departamento di Impuesto, Aruban Tax Authorities (dated
December 22, 2020) indicating that the existing tax ruling regarding profit tax exemption has been withdrawn and the
details for this will be further substantiated. On February 11, 2021, FCCA together with the Director and Inspector of
DIMP, Aruban Tax Authorities agreed the followings: a) Aruban Tax Authorities will provide a sound legal basis of
the withdrawal, b) FCCA may be eligible for a transitional restructuring of 2 to 3 years if the withdrawal is legally
correct, c) Aruban Tax Authorities will inspect whether it is possible to disregard and split the general social interest
activities. As per date no substantiation of the withdrawal has been received, jeopardizing the assessment of eventual
impact. The DIMP verbally committed to a transitional period and based on the reasonable and fair principle,
Management is of the opinion that it will be able to mitigate the possible impact of the withdrawal if any.
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Our reference: 130040/ A-32668

Grant Thornton Aruba
L.G. Smith Boulevard 62
Oranjestad
Aruba
T +297 522 1647
F +297 582 4864

To the Board of Managing Directors
and the Board of Supervisory Directors of
Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano (F.C.C.A.)
Aruba

Report on the financial statements included in the annual report
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Stichting
Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano (F.C.C.A.), Aruba (the “Foundation”) as at 31 December 2021,
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited
The foundation's financial statements comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021;
the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the year 2021;
the statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021;
the statement of changes in capital for the year ended December 31, 2021; and
the notes to the financial statements 2021, which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Effects of the Coronavirus (COVID-19)
We draw attention to note 1.2 of the financial statements which includes the Board of Managing
Directors’ assessment of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) on the Foundation’s activities in 2021 as well as
its impact on the future results, cash flows and financial position of the Foundation.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Independence
We are independent of the foundation in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. Furthermore, we have complied with the
Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

Report on the other information included in the annual report
The Board of Managing Directors and Board of Supervisory Directors are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises:
•
Report of the Board of Supervisory Directors, prepared by the Board of Supervisory Directors;
•
Report of the Board of Managing Directors, prepared by the Board of Managing Directors;
(but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Managing Directors and the Board of
Supervisory Directors for the financial statements
The Board of Managing Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal
control as the Board of Managing Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Managing Directors is responsible for assessing the
foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Managing Directors either
intends to liquidate the foundation or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Supervisory Directors is responsible for overseeing the foundation’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the foundation’s internal control.
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•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Managing Directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Managing Directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the foundation to cease to continue as a
going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Supervisory Directors regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Aruba, June 29, 2022
Grant Thornton Aruba

Original Signed by Edsel N. Lopez
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Abbreviated Financial Statements 2021

Abbreviated Statement of Financial Position as at
December 31, 2021
Dec. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

(in Aruban florin)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets - loans
Investments measured at amortised cost

19,746,790

22,027,239

2,345,185

1,471,676

7,244,998

3,937,212

190,804,298

196,814,795

12,037,380

17,067,350

Investment properties

10,216,703

10,693,454

Tangible fixed assets

132,681,902

129,760,442

375,077,256

381,772,168

13,941,698

13,776,507

Total assets

Liabilities and Capital
Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings
Employee benefit obligations

6,070,889

6,075,872

88,194,284

96,265,103

909,335

939,418

109,116,206

117,056,900

100

100

Abbreviated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income for the year 2021
2021

2020

(in Aruban florin)
Revenues
Revenues from financial activities
Revenues from real estate activities

16,641,756
14,679,869
31,321,625

18,754,438
13,596,197
32,350,635

Other income

3,892,751

2,053,004

Credit impairment (loss)/recovery

(1,725,472)

(2,675,912)

Expenses
Personnel expenses
General expenses
Property expenses
Depreciation expenses
Finance costs

12,489,191
5,119,363
4,526,890
5,066,267
5,041,411
32,243,122

Net result for the year

1,245,782

11,967,950
4,908,568
4,455,464
4,682,359
5,275,319
31,289,660
438,067

There are no items of other comprehensive income during 2021 and 2020.

Capital
Capital
Regulatory loan loss reserve
Retained earnings

Total liabilities and capital

10,398,081

10,432,354

255,562,869

254,282,814

265,961,050

264,715,268

375,077,256

381,772,168

NOTES TO THE ABBREVIATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 2021

1.

General information

Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano (‘FCCA’ or ‘the Foundation’) is a foundation that was founded and established in
Aruba on February 13, 1979, in Sabana Blanco 66, Oranjestad, Aruba.

Significant impact on the Foundation’s financial results or position

These abbreviated financial statements are derived from the audited financial statements of the Foundation which have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
applicable as at December 31, 2021. The abbreviated financial statements do not contain all the disclosures required by IFRS.

(iv)
Standards, amendments, and interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Foundation
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, Standards and amendments to existing
Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the IASB. None of these Standards or amendments to existing Standards have
been adopted early by the Foundation. Other Standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by
the Foundation include:
•
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;
•
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4);
•
References to the Conceptual Framework;
•
Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16);
•
Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a contract (Amendments to IAS 37);
•
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16); and
•
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1).
•
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities from a Single Transaction.

The financial statements from which these abbreviated financial statements were derived, have been prepared by the Board of Managing
Directors and were authorized for issue by the Board of Supervisory Directors on June 29, 2022.

This standard and these amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period of initial
application and therefore the disclosures have not been made.

The primary purposes of the Foundation are related to the improvement of social housing and community facilities by: building and
acquiring houses, acquiring or leasing lease land, improving and renovating houses, promoting the building of own properties, selling
properties, providing construction credits and mortgages, managing and operating housing in general, in particular the division of
housing, the rent, the collection of rental income and the provision of maintenance and renewal of houses, assisting in the provision of
insurance contracts, the collection of insurance premiums, the settlement of damage claims and the provision of advice with insurance
problems, managing and operating real estate, providing services to third parties in relation to housing, promoting and improving the
living and housing environment by providing community facilities.

Going concern assumptions
The economic and financial impact of Covid-19 pandemic has its implications on the clients of FCCA resulting into:
•
A decline of revenues of the Financing Activities of approximately 11.3%. The carrying amount as at December 31, 2021,
is AFl.16.6 million, mainly caused by take over from other financial institutions.
•
Increase of ECL of the loan portfolio with AFl. 1.7 million. The carrying amount as at December 31, 2021, is AFl.7.1
million.
Despite the global inflation challenges as result of the ongoing war, the tourism recovery in the last months exceeds the expectations and
subsequently the economic recovery is expected to be fully recover in 2023, which will improve the disposable income of the clients of
FCCA.
The Foundation made the first two principal payment of the Intercreditor Agreement dated August 28, 2017, according to the loan
schedule as per March 1 and September 1, 2021. Due to the principal payments, the decrease in revenues from Financing Activities and
increasing ECL provision, the foundation is in default with one of the covenants of the Intercreditor Agreement being the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio (DSCR). Formal waiver was requested to the lenders which was obtained as per November 23, 2021, and April 22, 2022.
The liquidity forecast assessment does not include the new strategy implementations launched in June 2022, it reveals that the Foundation
is able to generate a positive operational cash flow, while maintaining investments and complying with the debt obligations.
To cope with the financial impact as consequences of Covid-19 and current ongoing global crisis a revised strategy was drafted and
approved by the Supervisory Board of Directors. Part of the revised strategy was a complete fresh loan product to compete with the other
local financial institutions, was formally launch as per June 17, 2022. The strategy also comprises out of improving efficiencies and
reduce expenses. Starting the second quarter the interest from the Intercreditor Agreement is up for negotiations. Any additional interest
reduction will contribute to the improvement of the Foundation’s result.
Conclusion
Based on the circumstances described above, the financial statements are prepared under the assumptions that the Foundation operates
on a going concern basis.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i)
Compliance with IFRS
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to entities reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply
with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Foundation’s accounting policies.
(ii)
Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
(iii)
Standards, amendments, improvements and interpretations effective first time in the current year and relevant for the
Foundation’s operations
New Standards adopted as at January 1, 2021:
Some accounting pronouncements which have become effective as at January 1, 2021, and have therefore been adopted do not have a

2.2

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
(i)
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in Aruban Florin (AFl.), which is FCCA’s functional and
presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
(ii)
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
are denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity
if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance costs. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within general expenses.
2.3 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts, if any, are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.
2.4 Inventory
Inventory consists of items used for repair/maintenance of the Foundation’s tangible fixed assets and are not held for sale to third parties.
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
2.5 Trade and other receivables
If collection is expected in one year or less trade and other receivables are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as noncurrent assets. The Foundation makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for Trade and Other Receivables and records the loss
allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, the Foundation uses its historical experience, external
indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.
The Foundation assesses impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics they
have been grouped based on the days past due.
2.6

Financial assets

(i)
Classification
The Foundation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) or amortized cost (AC). The classification depends on:
•
The Foundation’s assessment of the overall objective of the business model within which the asset is held; and
•
The contractual cash flow characteristics of the assets
Business model assessment
The business model reflects how the Foundation manages its assets in order to generate cash flows, that is, whether the objective is to
collect contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. The Foundation assesses its business model at a portfolio level reflective
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of how group of assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. Factors considered by the Foundation in
determining the business model for a group of assets include:
•
How performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel;
•
The risks that affect performance and how they are managed;
•
How managers are compensated;
•
The frequency and volume of sales in prior period and expectations about future sales activity
Contractual cash flow characteristics assessment
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Foundation
determines if they give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) on the principal amount outstanding
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. In this context, ‘principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition
and ‘interest’ is consideration for the time value of money and credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a
particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs as well as profit margin.
If the Foundation identifies any contractual cash flows, such that cash flows are no longer consistent with a basic lending arrangement,
the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVPL. In making this assessment, the Foundation considers:
•
Contingent events;
•
Leverage features
•
Prepayment and term extensions
•
Terms which limit the Foundation’s recourse to specific assets and features that modify consideration of the time value of
money.
(ii)
Recognition and measurement
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date.
Debt Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold for collection of
contractual cash flows, and where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). After initial
measurement, debt instruments in this category are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition amount minus the principal repayments,
plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method of any difference between the initial amount
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.
Debt instruments of the Foundation comprise loans and investment securities that are sovereign bonds. After assessing its business
model for loans and sovereign bonds, which are held to collect the contractual cash flows, and where the cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, these instruments were measured at amortized cost.
Purchases and sales of debt instruments at amortized cost are recognized at trade date – the date on which the Foundation commits to
purchase or sell the asset – and are measured at amortized cost when cash is advanced to the borrowers. Mortgage loans are recognized
on settlement date - the date on which the Foundation and the client sign the notary deed. There are cases of loans closed between the
Foundation and its client for the purchase of FCCA or former Land Aruba houses and for which the mortgage rights have not been passed
as per balance sheet date. These loans are recognized at trade date.
Interest income using the effective interest rate method is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income through profit or loss.
Impairment on debt instruments measured at amortized cost is calculated using the expected credit loss (ECL) approach. Loans and
debt securities measured at amortized cost are presented net of allowance for credit losses in the Statement of Financial Position.
Debt Instruments Measured at FVOCI
Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold both for collection of
contractual cash flows and for the sale of financial assets, where the financial assets’ cash flows represent payments that are solely
payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL. Subsequent to initial recognition, unrealized gains and losses
on debt instruments measured at FVOCI are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI) in full, unless the instrument is
designated in a fair value hedge relationship.
When the asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognized in ‘Net Investment Income’. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to the amortized cost of the debt instrument
are recognized through profit or loss.
Impairment on debt instruments measured at FVOCI is calculated using the expected credit loss approach. The expected credit loss on
debt instruments measured at FVOCI does not reduce the carrying amount of the asset in the Statement of Financial Position, which
remains at its fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the financial assets were measured at amortized
cost is recognized in OCI with a corresponding amount taken to Credit Impairment Losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The accumulated amount recognized in OCI is recycled through profit or loss upon derecognition of the debt instrument.
Debt Instruments Measured at FVPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial Assets Mandatorily Measured at FVPL
Financial assets meeting either of the conditions below are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss (other than in
respect of an equity investment designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income):
•
Financial assets with contractual terms that do not give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and
•
Financial assets held within a business model whose objective is achieved neither by collecting contractual cash flows nor
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. This includes financial assets held within a portfolio
that is managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. It further includes portfolios of financial assets
that are ‘held for trading’.
Financial Assets Designated as Measured at FVPL
A financial asset may be designated at fair value through profit or loss only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces measurement
or recognition inconsistencies (an ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring financial assets or liabilities or
recognizing gains and losses on them on different basis. They are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value, with all
changes in fair value recorded in profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Debt instruments of the Foundation comprise the following:
•
Receivables, receivables Land Aruba and current account with Land Aruba are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.
•
Personal loans and mortgage loans
•
Investments in time deposits and government bonds
After assessing its business model for receivables, loans, and investments, which are mostly held to collect the contractual cash flows
where the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, these instruments are measured at amortized cost.
Equity Instruments
Equity instruments are measured at FVPL, unless an election is made to designate them at FVOCI upon purchase. For equity instruments
measured at FVPL, changes in fair value are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as part of net gain/loss from other
financial instruments carried at fair value. Instruments elected to be classified as non-trading equity instruments at FVOCI are made
upon initial recognition, on an instrument-by-instrument basis and once made, is irrevocable. Gains and losses on these instruments
including when derecognized/sold are recorded in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement. Dividend received
is recorded in the income statement.
2.7 Impairment of financial assets
Scope:
The Foundation recognizes impairment loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following categories of financial
instruments unless measured at fair value through profit or loss:
•
Financial assets that are debt instruments;
•
Loan commitments;
•
Financial guarantee contracts issued and not accounted for under IFRS 4 ‘Insurance contracts’ (This contrasts to the IAS 39
impairment model which was not applicable to loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, as these were covered
by IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets); and
•
Receivables and contract assets recognized under IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’
Expected credit loss model:
The determination of impairment losses and allowance moves from an incurred credit loss model whereby credit losses are recognized
when a defined loss event occurs under IAS 39, to an expected credit loss model under IFRS 9, where provisions are taken upon initial
recognition of the financial asset, based on expectations from potential credit losses at the time of initial recognition. Under IFRS 9, the
Foundation first evaluates individually whether objective impairment exists for financial assets which are individually significant. It then
collectively assesses financial assets that are not individually significant and loans which are significant but for which there is no objective
evidence of impairment.
The Foundation uses an ECL model developed to meet the requirements of IFRS 9. The allowance for credit losses calculations are
outputs of models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. This
model measures credit loss allowances using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination.

The Foundation assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss (‘ECL’) associated with its debt instrument assets carried at
amortized cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Foundation
recognizes a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:
•
An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
•
The time value of money; and
•
Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Presentation of allowance for credit losses in the Statement of Financial Position:
•
•
•

Financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial assets;
Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: no allowance is recognized in the Balance
Sheet because the carrying value of these assets is their fair value. However, the allowance determined is presented in the
accumulated other comprehensive income;
Off-balance sheet credit risks including undisbursed loan commitments and financial guarantees: as a provision.

Write-offs
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment and reduces the gross carrying amount of
the loan. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined.
Modified Loans
Loans are identified as renegotiated and classified as credit- impaired when the Foundation modifies the contractual payment terms due
to significant credit distress of the borrower. Renegotiated loans remain classified as credit-impaired until there is sufficient evidence to
demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk of nonpayment of future cash flows and retain the designation of renegotiated until
maturity or derecognition. A loan that is renegotiated is derecognized if the existing agreement is cancelled and a new agreement is
made on substantially different terms or if the terms of an existing agreement are modified such that the renegotiated loan is a
substantially different financial instrument. Any new loans that arise following derecognition events in these circumstances are
considered to be Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (POCI) and will continue to be disclosed as renegotiated loans.
Other than originated credit-impaired loans, all other modified loans could be transferred out of stage 3 if they no longer exhibit any
evidence of being credit-impaired and, in the case of renegotiated loans, there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a significant reduction
in the risk of non-payment of future cash flows, over the minimum observation period, and there are no other indicators of impairment.
These loans could be transferred to stage 1 or 2 by comparing the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date (based on the modified
contractual terms) and the risk of a default occurring at initial recognition (based on the original, unmodified contractual terms). Any
amount written off as a result of the modification of contractual terms would not be reversed.
2.8 Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental income, which are not classified as ‘tangible fixed assets in exploitation’
or for capital appreciation, or for both. Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
The fair value is disclosed in the disclosure note of investment property based on recent appraisal reports.
The estimated useful lives range between 15 to 50 years from the date of their purchase. Land is not depreciated. Useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
2.9 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets in exploitation consist of community center facilities, rental property, property available for sale, projects in
progress and land. Tangible fixed assets for own use consist of the office building, furniture and equipment, computer equipment and
vehicles.
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Projects in progress is stated at historical cost and are not depreciated during the period of construction. Land is stated at cost and is not
depreciated. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
•
Community centers:
10 - 50
•
Rental property in exploitation:
5 - 50 years
•
Office building and improvements:
3 - 40 years
•
Furniture equipment:
2 - 10 years
•
Computer equipment:
3 years
•
Vehicles:
5 years
Useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
2.10 Leases
FCCA as a lessee
For any new contracts entered into on or after January 1, 2019, FCCA considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’. To apply this definition FCCA assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:
•
the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made available to FCCA
•
FCCA has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period
of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract
•
FCCA has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. FCCA assess whether it has the
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
At lease commencement date, FCCA recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the Statement of Financial Position. The
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred
by FCCA, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of
the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).
FCCA depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful
life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. FCCA also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators
exist.
At the commencement date, FCCA measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or FCCA’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included
in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an
index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to
be exercised.
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect
any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the
corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.
FCCA has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognizing
a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
2.11 Financial Liabilities
(i)

Classification, Recognition and Subsequent Measurement

The Foundation classifies its financial liabilities as being measured at amortized cost unless it has designated liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss or is required to measure liabilities mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are initially
recognized at fair value, (normally the issued proceeds, that is, the fair value of consideration received) less, in the case of financial
liabilities subsequently carried at amortized cost, transaction costs. For financial liabilities carried at amortized cost, any difference
between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income through
profit or loss using the effective interest method.
A financial liability may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss only when:
It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (an ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different basis; or
A group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed, and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance
with documented risk management or investment strategy; or
A contract contains one or more embedded derivatives that significantly change the cash flows of the contract and the separation of the
embedded derivative(s) is not prohibited.
The movement in own credit risk related to financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is recorded in other
comprehensive income unless this would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss for the Foundation (in which case all
gains or losses are recognized through profit or loss).
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(ii)

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished, for instance, when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
2.12 Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Foundation prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
2.13 Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the drawn down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that this is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.
2.14 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowings costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
2.15 Employee benefits
The provision for anniversary allowance is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting year. This
provision is therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments for anniversary allowance that is based on the number
of years that the employees are in service at the Foundation. Consideration is given to expect future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures, life expectancy and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using a rate of 4.5% per annum.
Re-measurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in profit or loss.
2.16 Capital
(i)

Capital

FCCA is a foundation, thus there is no issuance of shares or payout of dividends involved. The result of the Foundation’s products and
services is to the benefit of its products and services to the inhabitants of Aruba. Its capital is effected by this result, included in retained
earnings.
(ii)

Retained earnings and regulatory loan loss reserve

Other reserves consist of the Foundation’s retained earnings and a regulatory loan loss reserve. As a financial institution under prudential
supervision of the Centrale Bank van Aruba, the Foundation is, based on the applicable State Ordinance on the Supervision of the Credit
System (AB 1998 no.16) and related Supervisory Directives, required to recognize a reserve of at least 3% of the net loan portfolio (gross
loans minus allocated provisions) plus other risk items on the asset side of the statement of financial position. This reserve is formed
from the retained earnings.
2.17 Revenue recognition
Interest income
The Foundation calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit-impaired, by applying the EIR to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset. When a financial asset becomes credit impaired as set out in Note 2.1 and is therefore
regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Foundation calculates interest income by applying EIR to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the
financial assets cure as outlined in Note 2.1 and is no longer credit-impaired, the Foundation reverts to calculating interest income on a
gross basis.
Interest expense
Interest expense is recognized in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for all instruments measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a
financial liability and of allocating the interest expense over the relevant period.
Real estate income
Fee and Commission Income (not in scope of IFRS 9) arises mainly from loan commitments and administration, other financial servicerelated products (syndication) and fund management.
To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Foundation follows a 5-step process:
1.
Identifying the contract with a customer
2.
Identifying the performance obligations
3.
Determining the transaction price
4.
Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
5.
Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.
Other income
Fee and Commission Income (not in scope of IFRS 9) arises mainly from loan commitments and administration, other financial servicerelated products (syndication) and fund management.
To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Foundation follows a 5-step process:
1.
Identifying the contract with a customer
2.
Identifying the performance obligations
3.
Determining the transaction price
4.
Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
5.
Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.
Revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Foundation satisfies performance obligations by transferring
the promised services to its customers.
The Foundation recognizes contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unfulfilled performance obligations and reports
these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Foundation satisfies a performance obligation
before it receives the consideration, the Foundation recognizes either a contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position,
depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Foundation recognizes revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Foundation’s activities as described below.
(i)
Revenues from financing activities
Revenues from financing activities consist of interest income and fees and commission income. Interest income arising from loans is
recognized as it accrues, taking into effect the effective interest rates on the loans. Interest income arising from investments is recognized
as it accrues, taking into effect the effective yield on the investment. Fees and commission income, including transaction fees and closing
fees are recognized as the related services are performed.
(ii)
Revenues from real estate activities
Revenues from real estate activities consist of the fee for managing Land Aruba rental property and rental revenues. The fee for managing
Land Aruba is based on the actual expenses related to the management and maintenance of the Land Aruba social rental houses and is
recognized as the related services are performed. As per the end of December 2016, these rental houses became the property of the
Foundation and consequently this revenue-source has come to an end. Rental revenue is arising from the FCCA houses and rental
buildings, including the rent subsidy paid by the Government of Aruba for the social tenants. This revenue is recognized on a straightline basis over the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial position based on their nature.
2.18 Impairment of financial instruments:
In determining ECL, management is required to exercise judgment in defining what is considered to be a significant increase in credit
risk and in making assumptions and estimates to incorporate relevant information about past events, current conditions and forecast of
economic condition.
Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ approach for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as summarized
below:
Significant risk in credit risk at initial recognition
IFRS 9 requires the recognition of 12 month expected credit losses (the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that
are expected within 12 months of the reporting date) if credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognition (stage 1), and
lifetime expected credit losses for financial instruments for which the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage
2) or which are credit impaired (stage 3). The Foundation assesses when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred based on
quantitative and qualitative assessments. Exposures are considered to have resulted in a significant increase in credit risk and are moved
to stage 2 when:
•
Quantitative Test
•
Qualitative Test
•
Backstop Criteria
•
A backstop has been applied and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit
risk if the borrower is more than 30 days due on its contractual payments

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL as these do not contain a significant
financing component. The Foundation considers to have low credit risk for the current asset trade and other receivables. The Foundation
has not used the low credit risk exemption for other financial instruments in the year ended December 31, 2021.
Credit Impaired Financial Assets at Stage 3
The Foundation has aligned its definition of credit impaired under IFRS 9 to when a financial asset has defaulted for regulatory purposes
according to the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR). Credit impaired is when the exposure has defaulted which is also anticipated
to align to when an exposure is identified as individually impaired under the incurred loss model under IAS 39.
The determination of whether a financial asset is credit-impaired focuses exclusively on default risk, without taking into consideration
the effects of credit risk mitigants such as collateral or guarantees. A financial asset is credit-impaired in Stage 3 when the Foundation
considers the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Foundation. Determination may include forbearance actions, where a
concession has been granted to the borrower or economic or legal reasons that are qualitative indicators of credit impairment, or
contractual payments of either principal or interest by the obligor are past due by more than 90 days.
Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired Financial Assets in Stage 3
Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their
ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis. All subsequent changes in lifetime expected credit losses, whether positive or negative, are
recognized in the income statement as a component of the provision for credit losses. (Stage 3).
The Foundation determines appropriate groups of assets when ECL is measured on a collective basis.
Measuring ECL – Basis of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation Techniques
IFRS 9 does not distinguish between individually significant or not individually significant financial assets. As such, the Foundation
calculates expected credit losses for each financial asset individually.
2.19 Expenses
Expenses are recognized in the period in which they are incurred.
2.20 Settlement of receivables and liabilities
Receivables and liabilities are settled and are presented net in the financial statements if a legally enforceable right for settlement exists
and if the intention between both parties is to settle receivables and liabilities simultaneously on a net basis.
2.21 Taxes
Due to FCCA's activities it is not subject to profit tax. However as from 2007, FCCA is subject to taxes for certain revenue items due to
the introduction of laws on turnover tax (BBO) and, later, health care levy (BAZV) in Aruba. Turnover tax (BBO and BAVP) and health
care levy (BAZV) are presented together in the statement of profit or loss, within general expenses.
2.22 Personnel Expenses
Personnel expenses made on behalf of construction projects (assets) or maintenance work carried out at the expense of the tenant are
capitalized. Compensation of key management is included in the personnel expenses.
The pension plan between the employees and the insurance company is a defined contribution plan. The accumulated capital at
pensionable age is paid out to purchase a pension for the accumulated pension capital.
2.23 General Expenses
These consist of:
•
Operating expenses
•
Audit, legal and consulting expenses
•
Communication expenses
•
Transportation expenses
•
Collection expenses
•
Representation and promotion expenses
•
Turnover taxes
•
Expenses related to granting of mortgage loans
•
Expenses related to real estate activities
•
Other general expenses
Compensation of supervisory board members is included in other general expenses.
2.24 Property Expenses
These expenses relate to:
•
Expenses for rental property owned by the Foundation
•
Expenses for construction projects in progress
•
Expenses for investment properties
3.

Events after the reporting period

There are no events after December 31, 2021, that would have a significant effect on the financial statements of 2021.
Independent auditor’s report
To the Board of Managing Directors
and the Board of Supervisory Directors of
Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano
Aruba
Our reference: 130040/A-32672
Our Opinion
The abbreviated financial statements, which comprise the abbreviated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, the
abbreviated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 2021 and notes to the abbreviated financial
statements, are derived from the audited financial statements of Stichting Fundacion Cas pa Comunidad Arubano (‘the Foundation’) for
the year ended December 31, 2021.
In our opinion, the accompanying abbreviated financial statements are consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial
statements of the Foundation, as described in Note 1. “General information”.
The Abbreviated Financial Statements
The abbreviated financial statements do not contain all the disclosures required by International Financial Reporting Standards. Reading
the abbreviated financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, therefore, is not a substitute for reading the audited financial
statements and the auditor’s report thereon. The audited financial statements, and the abbreviated financial statements do not reflect the
effects of events that occurred subsequent to the date of our report on the audited financial statements.
The Audited Financial Statements and Our Report Thereon
We expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the audited financial statements in our report dated June 29, 2022. That report also
includes:
• An emphasis of matter paragraph that draws attention to note 1.2 of the audited financial statements. Note 1.2 of the audited
financial statements includes the Board of Managing Directors’ assessment of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2021 as
well of its impact on the future results, cash flows and financial position of the Foundation. As stated in Note 1.2 of the audited
financial statements, based on its assessment of the impact of the Coronavirus for the year 2021 and beyond, and taking into
account the uncertainties that exist as per the date of issuance of the audited financial statements, the Board of Managing Directors
concludes that it does not consider the impact to cast significant doubt upon the Foundation’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
The Board of Managing Directors’ Responsibility for the Abbreviated Financial Statements
The Board of Managing Directors is responsible for the preparation of the abbreviated financial statements in accordance with the basis
as described in Note 2 “Summary of significant accounting policies”.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the abbreviated financial statements are consistent, in all material respects, with
the audited financial statements based on our procedures, which were conducted in accordance with International Standard on Auditing
810, Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements.
Aruba, June 29, 2022
Grant Thornton Aruba
Original signed by Edsel N. Lopez

